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In the Case of Sawhoyamaxa Indigenous Community,

the Inter-American Court of Human Rights (hereinafter, “the Court”, “the Inter-
American Court” or “the Tribunal”), composed of the following judges:

Sergio Garcia-Ramirez, President;
Alirio Abreu-Burelli, Vice-President;
Oliver Jackman, Judge;

Ant6nio A. Cancado Trindade, Judge;
Cecilia Medina-Quiroga, Judge;
Manuel E. Ventura-Robles, Judge; and
Diego Garcia-Sayan, Judge;

also present,

Pablo Saavedra-Alessandri, Secretary™”,

pursuant to Articles 62(3) and 63(1) of the American Convention on Human Rights
(hereinafter “the Convention” or “the American Convention”), Article 3(1) of the
Statue of the Court and Articles 29, 31, 56, 57 and 58 of the Court’s Rules of
Procedure (hereinafter, “the Rules of Procedure”), delivers the present judgment.

l. INTRODUCTION OF THE CASE

1. On February 3, 2005, the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights
(hereinafter “the Commission” or “the Inter-American Commission”) filed an
application with the Inter-American Court against the State of Paraguay (hereinafter
“the State” or “Paraguay”), originating in petition No. 0322/2001, received by the
Secretariat of the Commission on May 15, 2001.

2. The Commission filed the application pursuant to Article 61 of the American
Convention, in order that the Court should decide whether Paraguay had violated
Articles 4 (Right to Life), 5 (Right to Humane Treatment), 21 (Right to Property), 8
(Right to A Fair Trial), and 25 (Right to Judicial Protection) of the American
Convention, with relation to the obligations set forth in Articles 1(1) (Obligation to
Respect Rights) and 2 (Obligation to Adopt Domestic Law Measures) thereof, to the
detriment of the Sawhoyamaxa Indigenous Community of the Enxet-Lengua people
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(hereinafter, the “Sawhoyamaxa Indigenous Community”, the "“Sawhoyamaxa
Community”, the “Indigenous Community” or the “Community”, irrespectively) and
its members (hereinafter, “the members of the Community”). The Community
alleged that the State has not ensured the ancestral property right of the
Sawhoyamaxa Community and its members, inasmuch as their claim for territorial
rights is pending since 1991 and it has not been satisfactorily resolved to date. As
stated in the Commission’s application, this has barred the Community and its
members from title to and possession of their lands, and has implied keeping it in a
state of nutritional, medical and health vulnerability, which constantly threatens their
survival and integrity.

3. Likewise, as a result of the foregoing, the Commission requested the Court to
order the State to adopt certain reparation measures and reimburse legal costs.

11.COMPETENCE

4, The Inter-American Court has competence over this case under Article 62(3)
of the American Convention, since Paraguay has been a State Party to the
Convention since August 24, 1989 and recognized the Court’'s contentious
Competence on March 26, 1993.

I1l. PROCEEDING BEFORE THE COMMISSION

5. On May 15, 2001, the non-governmental organization TierraViva a los Pueblos
Indigenas del Chaco (hereinafter “TierraViva”) submitted a petition to the
Commission regarding alleged violation by Paraguay of rights set forth in Articles 21,
8(1) and 25 of the American Convention in connection with the obligations
established in Articles 1(1) and 2 thereof, to the detriment of the members of the
Sawhoyamaxa Community.

6. On June 7, 2001, the Inter-American Commission forwarded the relevant
parts of the petition to the State and gave it two months to submit “an answer to the
petition.”

7. On February 20, 2003, during its 117th Regular Session, the Commission
approved Admissibility Report No. 12/03, declaring the petition admissible.

8. On October 19, 2004, during its 121st Regular Session, the Commission
approved Report on the Merits No. 73/04, pursuant to Article 50 of the Convention.
The Commission’s report made the following recommendations to Paraguay:

1. To promptly adopt any such measures as may be necessary to enforce the right
to property and possession of the ancestral territory of the Sawhoyamaxa Indigenous
Community of the Enxet-Lengua people and its members, specifically to delimit,
demarcate and convey them title to their lands pursuant to their customary law, values,
usage and customs, and to guarantee the members of the Community the exercise of
their traditional subsistence activities.

2. To adopt any such measures as may be necessary to cure the state of
nutritional, medical and health emergency in which the Community is, such as the
enforcement of Emergency Executive Order No. 3789/99 of [...] June 23, 1999.



3. To adopt any such measures as may be necessary to protect the habitat
claimed by the Indigenous Community while delimitation, demarcation and conveyance
of title to the ancestral territory in favor of the Community be still pending, specifically
measures aimed at preventing immediate and irreparable harm from activities by third
parties.

4. To establish an effective and simple court remedy to protect the right of the
Indigenous Peoples of Paraguay to claim and access their traditional territories.

5. To publicly acknowledge international responsibility for the human rights
violations determined by the [Commission] in this report. In particular, to conduct a
public ceremony, with the participation of relevant Government authorities, the
members of the Sawhoyamaxa Community and its representatives, to acknowledge the
State’s international responsibility for the events in the instant case, and to publish,
within two months as from notification of this decision, at least once, in the Official
Gazette and in another national-circulation daily, the section entitled “Facts” in Chapter
IV (A), [and] the conclusions and recommendations of the [...] report.

6. To make individual and communal reparations of the consequences of the
breach of the rights mentioned. The reparations to be paid by the Paraguayan State
must be calculated pursuant to international standards, and must be adequate to
compensate pecuniary and non-pecuniary damages caused by the human rights
violations addressed by this report. Payment of such reparation shall not depend upon
the Sawhoyamaxa Community and its representatives filing any court action provided
for by Paraguayan law. Likewise, to pay the members of the Sawhoyamaxa Community
all expenses and legal costs incurred by them and their representatives in the domestic
proceedings and in the international proceeding before the Inter-American system for
the protection of human rights. The manner and amount of the reparation must be
agreed upon with the members of the Sawhoyamaxa Community and its representatives
pursuant to the customary law, values, usage and customs of the Indigenous
Community.

7. To adopt any such measures as may be necessary to prevent similar events
from happening in the future, in accordance with the duty to prevent and safeguard the
fundamental rights recognized in the American Convention.

9. On January 31, 2005, after analyzing the answer by the State to the above
recommendations, the Commission decided to refer this case to the Inter-American
Court.

V. PROCEEDING BEFORE THE COURT

10. On February 3, 2005, the Inter-American Commission filed an application with
the Court. The appendixes thereto were received on February 10, 2005. Pursuant to
Article 33 of the Rules of Procedure, the Commission informed that the alleged
victims would be represented by TierraViva (hereinafter, “the representatives”).

11. On March 18, 2005, after the preliminary examination of the application was
conducted by the President of the Court (hereinafter, “the President"), the
Secretariat of the Court (hereinafter, “the Secretariat”) served the State with a copy
of the application and its appendixes, and it informed it of the time limit within which
it could file an answer and appoint and ad hoc judge to hear the case. On the same
day, pursuant to Article 35(1)(d) and (e) of the Rules of Procedure, the Secretariat
served the representatives with notice of the application, informing them that they
should submit their brief of requests, arguments and evidence (hereinafter, the “brief
of requests and arguments”) within two months.

12. On May 17, 2005, Paraguay requested an extension of the term granted to
appoint the ad hoc judge and the Agent for the State. The State grounded its request



on alleged “difficulties in the consulting process” for the appointment of the judge.
On May 19, 2005, the State sent a notice reaffirming its request for extension
alleging that it had unwillingly commited a mistake in that “the original request for
extension mistakingly stated the name of a case that has not yet been submitted to
the Court[,] while the request should have made reference to the Sawhoyamaxa
case. Likewise, it has not been possible to effect the appointment owing to difficulties
in the process of consulting.” Finally, the State requested that “should the [...] Court
grant the requested extension,” it accept the appointment of Mr. Oscar Martinez-
Pérez as Agent and of Mr. Ramon Fogel as ad hoc Judge.

13. On May 26, 2005, the Secretariat informed the State that the proposed
appointment of Mr. Ramén Fogel as ad hoc Judge would be submitted to the
consideration of the full Court, to the pertinet effects.

14. On May 18, 2005, the representatives filed their brief of requests and
arguments. The appendixes were received by the Secretariat on May 23, 2005.

15, On June 15, 2005, the Secretariat informed the State that, in accordance with
Articles 10(4) of the Court’s Statute and 18(3) of the Rules of Procedure, the Court
decided to refuse Mr. Ramén Fogel’s appointment as ad hoc Judge in the instant
case, as it was submitted after the term the State had for doing so had expired
(supra para. 12).

16. On July 13, 2005, the State filed its answer to the application and comments
on the brief of requests and arguments (hereinafter, “answer to the application”).
The appendixes were received by the Secretariat on August 4, 2005.

17. On September 29, 2005, the Secretariat informed the parties that after
analyzing the main briefs submitted by the Commission, the representatives and the
State, the full Court deemed that it was not necessary to convene a public hearing in
the instant case. Moreover, the Secretariat asked the Commission, the
representatives and the State, following orders of the President, to furnish a final list
of the witnesses and expert witnesses proposed by each of them.

18. On December 21, 2005, the President issued an Order whereby it deemed it
convenient to receive in the form of affidavits, the testimonies of Carlos Marecos-
Aponte, Leonardo Gonzalez, Gladys Benitez, Mariana Ayala and Elsa Ayala, who were
proposed by the Commission and the representatives; the testimony of Martin
Sanneman, proposed by the representatives and the testimony of Oscar Centurion,
proposed by the State, as well as the expert reports of José Marcelo Brunstein and
Fulgencio Pablo Balmaceda-Rodriguez, who were proposed by the Commission and
the representatives; the expert report of Andrew Paul Leake, proposed by the
representatives; and the expert report of Augusto Fogel, proposed by the State.
Likewise, the President ordered that the expert reports prepared by José Alterto
Braunstein, Enrique Castillo, José Antonio Aylwin Oyarzuan, Bartomeu Melia i Lliteres,
Bernardo Jacquet and César Escobar-Catebecke for the Case of the Indigenous
Community Yakye Axa against Paraguay’ be added to the record in the instant case.
Likewise, the President granted the Commission, the representatives and the State a
non-postponable term of ten days from the receipt of the aforementioned affidavits
to submit the comments they might deem appropriate. In such Order, the President
likewise informed the parties that they had a non-postponable term expiring on
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February 16, 2006, to submit their final written arguments concerning the merits and
possibly reparations and legal costs.

19. On January 19, 2006, Mr. Andrew Paul Leake forwarded his expert report in
the form of an affidavit, in compliance with the Order of the President of December
21, 2005 (supra para. 18). The report was filed in English. On January 20, 2006, the
representatives submitted the Spanish translation of the expert opinion by Andrew
Paul Leake, which was rendered by affidavit by Tito Ulises Lahaye-Diaz on January
25, 2006.

20. On January 18, 2006, the State submitted the affidavits by witnhess Oscar
Centurién and expert witness Augusto Fogel, attested by a notary public. Likewise,
on January 19, 2006, the representatives submitted the notarized expert opinions of
José Marcelo Brustein and Pablo Balmaceda-Rodriguez, and the notarized testimonies
of Carlos Marecos-Aponte, Leonardo Gonzalez, Gladys Benitez, Mariana Ayala and
Elsa Ayala, in compliance with the President's Order of December 21, 2005 (supra
para. 18). Likewise, the representatives requested an extension of the term for
submittting Martin Sanneman’s testimony, and made comments on the affidavits by
Bernardo Jacquet and César Escobar-Catebecke, added to the body of evidence in
the instant case under the Order of the President of December 21, 2005 (supra.
para. 18). On January 20, 2006, the Inter-American Commission submitted a
communication, whereby it endorsed the affidavits of witnesses Carlos Marecos-
Aponte, Leonardo Gonzalez, Gladys Benitez, Mariana Ayala and Elsa Ayala, and
expert witnesses Pablo Balmaceda-Rodriguez and José Marcelo Brunstein, and
submitted its comments on the expert opinions by Bernardo Jackquet and César
Escobar-Catebecke.

21. On January 20, 2006, following instructions given by the President and
considering the extraordinary nature of the case brought by the representatives, the
Secretariat granted a non-postponable delay ending on February 6, 2006 for
submitting Martin Sanneman’s affidavit (supra para. 18). Finally, on February 8,
2006, the representatives submitted Martin Sanneman’s affidavit.

22. On January 20, 2006, following instructions given by the President, the
Secretariat required the State and the representatives, pursuant to Article 45(2) of
the Rules of Procedure, to submit, as evidence to facilitate adjudication of the case,
(@) birth and death certificates, autopsy records and any other relevant documents
that may show the causes of the alleged deaths of the members of the
Sawhoyamaxa Indigenous Community mentioned by the representatives of the
alleged victims, to wit: “[NN] Galarza, Rosana Lépez, Eduardo Caceres, Eulalio
Caceres, Esteban Gonzalez, NN Gonzalez-Aponte, Wilfrido Gonzalez, Teresio
Gonzalez, NN Yegros, Antonio Alvarenga, Jenny Toledo, Guido Ruiz-Diaz, (NN)
Gonzalez, Luis Torres-Chavez, Derlis Armando Torres, (NN) Torres, Lucia Aponte,
Marcos Chavez, Juan Ramoén Gonzalez, Pedro Fernandez, Eusebio Ayala, Francisca
Britez [and] Diego Andrés Ayala”, and (b) the medical histories, certificates of
medical care, or any other document evidencing whether the above-mentioned
individuals received any kind of medical care in any field of specialization, at any
hospital, clinic, health care center or any health care facility, within six months prior
to the alleged deaths. Likewise, following instructions given by the President, the
Secretariat required the State to submit, as evidence to facilitate adjudication of the
case, a detailed report on the alleged medical and food assistance given by any
governmental entity to the members of the Sawhoyamaxa Indigenous Community
from the effective date of Executive Order No. 3,789 of June 23, 1999 to date.



Finally, the representatives were required to complete the data of the census of the
Sawhoyamaxa Indigenous Community in Appendix No. 7 to the application filed by
the Inter-American Commission in the instant case, for in such census, some
members of the Community are identified merely as “child” or “other.”

23. On February 6, 2006, the representatives submitted their comments on the
affidavits by the witness Oscar Centurién and by the expert witness Augusto Fogel
(supra para. 20). On the other hand, the Commission informed that it had no
comments on such affidavits. On February 10, 2006, the State submitted comments
on the affidavit by Elsa Ayala and the expert opinion by Pablo Balmaceda-Rodriguez,
rendered in the form of affidavit. The State added to said note Order No. 280/92 of
April 15, 1992, “establishing that, in addition to the medical care provided to the
indigenous people at no cost, they are exempted from paying for examinations and
other procedures carried out at the Itagua Hospital", and Circular S.G No. 1/95 on
“comprehensive, attentive and free health care provided to indigenous groups”
issued by the Public Health and Social Welfare Ministry on February 24, 1995. On
February 13, 2006, the State informed that it had no comments on the affidavit by
Andrew Paul Leake or its Spanish translation (supra para. 19).

24. On February 16, 2006, the representatives filed documents concerning the
request of evidence to facilitate adjudication of the case (supra para. 22). In this
regard, the representatives argued that “only exceptionally have the deaths been
entered in any public record,” so they submitted an affidavit by Sawhoyamaxa
Community leader Carlos Marecos stating "the dates of the death of each of the
[alleged] victims and their parentage or kinship.”

25. On February 16, the Inter-American Commission, the representatives and the
State respectively submitted their final written arguments on the merits and possibly
reparations and legal costs. On February 20, 2006, the representatives submitted
appendixes to their final written arguments.

26. On February 24, 2006, after a term extension, the State submitted part of the
evidence to facilitate adjudication of the case required by the Court (supra para. 22).
The State made several precisions in this regard. As regards to the request for birth
and death certificates and autopsy records or other documents that may show the
causes of the alleged deaths of the members of the Community, the State stated
that, after issuing orders to the Direccién General del Registro Civil (General Office of
Vital Records) and Secciones de Registro Civil (Vital Records Departments) No. 24
and 38 of the INDI, “no birth entries have been found and thus it has not been
possible to determine the existence of the allegedly dead individuals." The State also
informed that there are no medical histories or evidence of medical care to the
above-mentioned individuals in any facilities maintained by the Public Health and
Social Welfare Ministry or in any local health center, and that more data were
required to "better identify the individuals" to enable the search. Finally, the State
submitted information about "health care, food and water [...] provided [...] by the
Public Health and Social Welfare Ministry, the National Emergency Agency, the
Concepcion Council, the Presidente Hayes local government and the INDI."

27. On March 11, 2006, the representatives submitted a census of the members
of the Sawhoyamaxa Indigenous Community updated as of February 2006, in
compliance with the request effected by the Secretariat on January 20, 2006,
following instructions given by the President, (supra para. 22). On March 14, 2006,
the representatives filed a brief clarifying the case of two families that appear in such



census of this Community, who also appeared in the prior census of the Indigenous
Community Yakye AxaZ.

28. On March 13, 2006, following instructions given by the President, the
Secretariat required the State to submit the comments it might deem appropriate on
the supposed new matters of fact alleged by the Comission and the representatives
in their respective final written arguments, concerning the alleged death of other
members of the Sawhoyamaxa Community. On March 20, 2006, the State submitted
its comments and stated that the allegation of new deaths had been made “without
even one document supporting the alleged deaths, which virtually rendered the
mention of the existence of the new matters of fact alleged irrelevant” (supra para.
25).

V. Evidence

29. Before examining the evidence tendered, the Court will state, in the light of
the provisions set forth in Articles 44 and 45 of the Rules of Procedure, a number of
general points, most of which arise from precedents established in the Court itself,
and applicable to the instant case.

30. Evidence is governed by the adversary principle, which embodies due respect
for the parties’ right to defense. This principle underlies Article 44 of the Rules of
Procedure, inasmuch as it refers to the time when evidence must be tendered, so
that equality among the parties may prevail.3

31. In accordance with Court practice, at the beginning of each procedural stage,
the parties must state, at the first opportunity granted them to do so in writing, the
evidence they will tender. Furthermore, the Court or the President of the Court,
practicing the discretionary authority under Article 45 of the Rules of Procedure, may
ask the parties to supply additional items, as evidence to facilitate adjudication of the
case, without thereby affording a fresh opportunity to expand or complement their
arguments, unless by express leave of the Court.

32. The Court has also pointed out before that, in taking and assessing evidence,
the procedures observed before this Court are not subject to the same formalities as
those required in domestic judicial actions and that admission of items into the body
of evidence must be effected paying special attention to the circumstances of the
specific case, and bearing in mind the limits set by respect for legal certainty and for
the procedural equality of the parties. The Court has further taken into account
international precedent, according to which international courts are deemed to have
authority to appraise and assess evidence based on the rules of a reasonable credit
and weight analysis, and has always avoided rigidly setting the quantum of evidence
required to reach a decision. This criterion is specially valid with respect to

2 Case of Indigenous Community Yakye Axa, supra note 1, Exhibit A).

s Cf. Case of Acevedo-Jaramillo et al. Judgment of February 7, 2006. Series C No. 144, para. 183;
Case of Lépez-Alvarez. Judgment of February 1, 2006. Series C No. 141, para. 36; and Case of Pueblo
Bello Massacre. Judgment of January 31, 2006. Series C No. 140, para. 61.

4 Cf. Case of Acevedo-Jaramillo et al., supra note 3, para. 184; Case of Pueblo Bello Massacre;
supra note 3, para. 62; and Case of Garcia-Asto and Ramirez-Rojas. Judgment of November 25, 2005.
Series C No. 137, para. 83.



international human rights courts, which enjoy ample authority, when determining
the international responsibility of a State for the violation of human rights, to assess
the evidence submitted to them concerning the pertinent facts, in accordance with
the rules of logic and based on experience.

33. Based on the above, the Court will now examine and assess the body of
evidence in the instant case within the legal framework in hand. In doing so, the
Court will follow the rules of reasonable credit and weight analysis, within the
applicable legal framework.

A) DOCUMENTARY EVIDENCE

34. The documentary evidence submitted by the Commission, the representatives
and the State includes witness statements and written expert opinions sworn before
a notary public in accordance with the Order of the President of December 21, 2005
(supra para. 18). Said witness statements and expert opinions are summarized as
follows:

a. Statement by Mr. Carlos Marecos-Aponte, alleged victim and
leader of the Sawhoyamaxa Community

He has been the leader of the Sawhoyamaxa Indigenous Community for more than
fifteen years. Like his parents and grandparents, he is a “criollo, born and raised in
the area claimed” by the Community.

The settlements “Santa Elisa— “to which he belongs— and “KM. 16” are the
Community's most populated ones, and have been living on a roadside for more than
eight years. Other members of the Community are living in several other estates in
the surrounding area, such as: Ledesma, Maroma, Naranjito, Diana, San Felipe,
Loma Pora and Santa Elisa Bray. The members of the Sawhoyamaxa Community
“are not by the road because they like to, but because they are near the area they
are claiming,” which they cannot “enter without permission,” as “they say those
lands are private property.” People who are now living in the “Santa Elisa” village
come from various estates, mainly Maroma, Ledesma, Naranjito and Loma Pora. On
these estates, "families [...] were spread all over, without a safe place to live."

“The conflict over the lands has been going on ever since [he] can remember; [they]
used to live in other people's estates as Paraguayan workers, but [they] felt [they]
needed to live on [their] own land [and] have an education.” Likewise, he stated that
the members of his Community have always had problems as regards to
documentation, for example, some members of the Community have never had any
kind of identification. Generally, members of the Community have to go to Asuncion
to apply for a certificate of birth first and then an identity card, but owing to the high
cost of transportation, it is not easy for them to travel. Deaths are not recorded
either; the witness recalls that formerly the Anglican Church used to “give [them] a
little piece of paper documenting the demise, but it was of no legal value.”

To start claiming for their lands, the members of the Community “would gather and
talk about how their ancestors used to live, and compared their ancestors’ way of life
with their own reality.” They realized they were being displaced, and that many of

5 Cf. Case of Acevedo-Jaramillo et al., supra note 3, para. 185; Case of Lopez-Alvarez, supra note

3, para. 37; and Case of Pueblo Bello Massacre, supra note 3, para 63.



them were living on the estates without education or medicines. It was then that
they joined efforts to demand “a place to live” from the Government. Thus, “[they]
made the rounds of the estates visiting [their] people, talking about how, in time,
[they] would be able to recover [their] lands, [their] language, [their] health, [their]
education and improve their standard of living” in general.

Initially, they stated their claim with the aid of an anthropologist from the Anglican
Church. In 1991, the leaders of the Community filed their claim with the Instituto de
Bienestar Rural [Rural Welfare Institute]. Likewise, the Instituto Paraguayo del
Indigena (INDI) [Paraguayan Institute for Indigenous Affairs] also intervened in the
case, and the first steps were taken. Many procedures were followed before different
institutions. During those early years, the INDI was asked to allow for a budget item
to purchase lands. In turn, the INDI asked Congress for a budget increase for such
purpose. However, its budget for the purchase of lands was cut some time later,
worsening the situation.

They also requested Congress to expropriate the lands claimed for the Community.
The Congressional Human Rights and Indigenous Affairs Committee ruled against the
request for condemnation, and when they learnt that the full house would reject the
request, they withdrew it. The members of the Community felt that the congressmen
did not care about the issue. That was very sad.

The President of the INDI offered them alternative lands, without specifying which;
his offer was not serious, and he never showed any document. Moreover, the
members of the Community felt fully identified with the Sawhoyamaxa lands and
they could not barter “just like that” the lands where their parents and grandparents
had lived. According to the witness, the lands claimed by the members of the
Community were used by their ancestors to hunt. They are the best ones; the only
place where there are still rainforests and other essential conditions for their
survival, such as water. The lands claimed are of great significance for the members
of the Community because they used to belong to them, and they still show traces of
their grandparents. What is more, many of their ancestors are buried there.

In 1994, the members of the Community succeeded in getting a court to issue an
injunction, but it was not abided by, and 1,200 hectares of forest were lost. Only a
year later was forest cutting stopped.

In 1999, the President of Paraguay declared the Sawhoyamaxa Community in
emergency state owing to their lacking lands of their own; this led them to believe
that they would have Congressional support and that it would study a new project for
condemnation, which was the only available way left open to them after they had
exhausted all other available procedures. This was the second time they made a
request for condemnation to Congress. After one year of studying the request, the
Senate once again rejected it. This made the Community very sad.

The lands have been the main subject of the Community’s claim, and once their
claim is addressed they will be able to solve the other problems, i.e., health,
education and food. The members of the Community demand huge efforts from their
leader not to neglect the Community, and he must keep abreast of the
developments.

b. Statement by Mr. Leonardo Gonzalez, leader of the Sawhoyamaxa
Indigenous Community and alleged victim
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He has been the leader of the second largest village of the Community, known as
"KM 16", assisting Carlos Marecos, the first leader. His responsibility is to work with
about sixteen families, who champion the struggle for reclaiming their traditional
lands. This village has been settling on the roadside, 392 KM down the highway
running from Pozo Colorado to Concepciodn, for over fifteen years. The witness recalls
that when he lived with his parents at the Loma Pora estate, his uncle and aunt lived
on the roadside in "KM 16”, and even his grandparents died there.

Several families who are members of the Community are scattered throughout the
neighboring estates such as Naranjito, Diana and others. When they get their lands,
all the families will be brought together again. The lands the members of the
Sawhoyamaxa Community are claiming were home to their ancestors and many of
the surviving old people. In the place there are “orange, grapefruit and guaba trees
that were planted by his people, as well as many coconut trees, and all of that is still
there."

In 1991, procedures to claim the land started, with the aid of the Anglicans, meeting
and talking with the people.

Thus, the Community formally laid claim to the lands before the State, through the
INDI, the Instituto de Bienestar Rural [Rural Welfare Institute] and the Congress.
During all that time, the members of the Community received several visits by
attorneys and congressmen. On one occasion, senator Badel Rachid-Lichi visited
them, offering alternative lands, without specifying which, and without the presence
of their lawyers, so the members of the Community did not consider this offer. It is a
pity that, in all this time, the State has failed to provide a solution to the issue, with
the Congress rejecting their request for condemnation, all of which severely affects
the members of the Community.

The members of the Community are totally helpless; there are no records of births or
deaths in the Community. Many of the members of the Community have no identity
cards. The members of the Community are not assisted in health care centers, if
they ever get to them, because they have no money or due to the lack of doctors.
Many times they want to resort to their knowledge of traditional medicine, but they
cannot get to the medicinal herbs because these are to be found inside the wire-
fenced estates. Faced with this, they must contemplate disease and death with
resignation.

C. Statement by Ms. Gladys Benitez, alleged victim

She belongs to the Sawhoyamaxa Indigenous Community. Since long ago, the
Community has been settled on the roadside, 370 kilometers down the highway
running from Pozo Colorado to Concepcion.

The soil of this settlement is not good for growing crops. As a result, the members of
the Community normally have “no food or place to find it.” On some occasions,
members of the Community go into the adjacent enclosure to gather honey and fruit.
These incursions must be made “hiding from the guards [...] because if they find
[them] there, they shoot at [their] heads, as it happened not long ago with a
member of the Community."



11

The witness stated that the indigenous people live off the forest, so they cannot go
for food anywhere else; for instance, she pointed out that this is the honey season,
so the women of the Community have to gather as much honey as they can, even
hiding. A small watercourse runs near the Community's settlement, but it does not
always carry water. In the drought season, the women have to walk long distances
for water.

As for health, the witness stated that the members of the Community enjoy no kind
of adequate medical care. Physicians visit the community very seldom, and when
they do so, they are in a rush, or they come without notice, when the people are
away from the settlement. A few medicines arrive once a year. In most cases they
resort to traditional medicine. Some go the the Concepcién Regional Hospital, 46 KM
away from the Community. To reach the hospital, they have to pay for
transportation, and if they are admitted, they are given prescriptions to buy
medicines at the pharmacist’s, but if they have no money they must do without
them. Besides the Regional Hospital, the withess only knows the Military Hospital in
Asuncién. There are no sanitation facilities in the settlement either, so the children
fall ill easily. When members die, they are buried alongside the road, and no
document records their death; only in some rare cases do the authorities issue death
certificates.

As regards to education, they have a little school, which is almost without resources.
A foreigner helps them supplying pencils and notebooks. The Government of
Presidente Hayes provides very little help. They have a teacher who works double
shifts, but teaches only up to second grade. Lessons are taught in Guarani and
Spanish only, so they do not receive education in their own language. The old
women of the Community still speak their language and try to use it to talk to their
grandchildren so that their culture may not be lost.

Formerly, “when [the landowners] were not such a nuisance for [them], [they] could
practice their rites and customs," but currently this is very difficult, as they live
alongside the highway.

The members of the Community trust their leaders and know that they make every
effort to get their land, and that they have to face ill treatment from the Paraguayan
authorities and the landowners. At the time they were at the Maroma estate, they
also suffered a great deal. The indigenous people worked, but they did not know how
much their salary was. The witness spoke several times with the owner to tell him
that he was treating them like animals but, according to her testimony, he
threatened to pull down her house and to call the police. After much mistreatment,
they decided to leave the estate and settle alongside the highway to claim their
lands. Elderly people and children are the most severely affected by the lack of land.

d. Statement by Ms. Mariana Ayala, alleged victim

She belongs to the Sawhoyamaxa Indigenous Community. She has been living
alongside the highway in the "KM 16" village for a long time.

The witness pointed out that the members of the Community cannot grow any crops
or keep any cattle in the settlement, since “the area is very small, between the
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highway and the fence, [which] is only 50 meters wide.” [T]he men [of the
Community] go hunting on private land, which formerly belonged to [them], or they
seek employment in the neighboring estates as temporary farmhands. Women
gather fruit and honey.”

The members of her Community live in appalling conditions; their children are at
constant risk, but “[they] have not had any fatal car accidents, as it happened in
Santa Elisa." However, many have died since they settled alongside the highway, as
verified by doctor Pablo Balmaceda, who visited the Community on several occasions
and reported it. The witness pointed out that the medical care the members of the
Community receive is inadequate, for which reason they resort to traditional
medicine. It is very difficult for them to go to hospital, since they lack sufficient
financial means. The city of Concepcién, where the nearest hospital is located,
belongs to another department, so very often they cannot assist them, and tell them
to go to the very distant hospital of their department, i.e., Villa Hayes. Last year, her
niece fell severely ill and "while someone went for money for the bus fare, it was too
late to get her to the hospital, [and she] died [on] the way there." When somebody
dies at the hospital, sometimes their next of kin are extended “a piece of paper” to
be submitted to the vital records registry, which for indigenous people is run by the
INDI, whose offices are located in Asunciéon. On the other hand, no document is
extended for those who die at the Community, “who are simply remain in [their]
memory.”

Another one of the most frequent and stringent hardships suffered by the members
of the Community is the lack of drinking water in the area, specially at times of long-
running draught. The Community only has a small earth dam located approximately
1,500 meters away from the settlement, but the water it gathers is not good for
drinking, as it is used by the animals in the area. On the contrary, during the rainy
season, the surroundings of the houses in the village get flooded.

The lands the members of the Community are claiming have always been considered
their own. The men would go hunting into those lands, which still have woods, water
and forests, unlike other lands in the region, which are highly deforested. Likewise,
“the Paraguayans burn the grasslands and now [they] don't know where [...] [their]
ancestors are buried."

The members of the Community in this settlement do not have an Indigenous school.
There is only a school for "Paraguayans" in the area, which the children of the
Community attend. This represents a problem for indigenous children, as “the
Paraguayan teachers discriminate against [them] for going barefoot.” Lessons at this
school are taught in Guarani and in Spanish. This is regrettable, as in the "KM 16"
settlement increasingly fewer members of the Community speak the language of
their people. When they were in the Loma Pora estate, the members of the
Community started to forget their language because they were living among
"Paraguayans”, and now that they are settled alongside a highway they have lost it
much more. The members of the Community wish to recover their customs, but it is
hard in the current circumstances; moreover, they need the resources of nature for
that.

When the struggle for land was at its fullest, many indigenous employees were
sacked from the estates, and now there are but few estate-owners who are willing to
hire indigenous people on their estate.
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Since her Community is settled alongside the highway, they are barred from the
development programs offered by some entities, which require secured land to
implement their projects.

e. Statement by Ms. Elsa Ayala, alleged victim

She belongs to the "KM 16” village of the Sawhoyamaxa Indigenous Community.
Formerly, she used to live with her parents at the Loma Pora estate. Many of her
next of kin died in that estate and were buried in the indigenous cemetery located
there and “even now, when people [from the Community] die, [their next of kin] go
into the estate to bury [them]." The people in the "KM 16" village mostly come from
the Loma Pora estate, where they found it hard to live, for they were constantly
threatened by the estate management for having started procedures to reclaim their
land.

She cannot remember exactly when “[they] went on the highway, but [she thinks] it
was quite long ago.” Life is very hard in the "KM 16" village. Men go hunting, or to
try and get some temporary, informal job in the nearby estates; women gather
honey, and that is all they can do to make a living. There is no indigenous school in
the village either, so the children have to attend a school "they share with the
Paraguayans," but their relationship with the Paraguayans is very difficult, because
the children are discriminated against by the teachers, and when it comes to getting
some support, "the Paraguayans" always come first. The State authorities do not
visit them, although they know the situation they are living in is very difficult. The
Community’s settlement is located near Concepcién, the nearest city with a hospital.
When a member of the Community falls ill, they consider taking him to that hospital,
but they suffer a lot because they know that without "money" they will not assist
them; furthermore, "there are no medicines for the poor, just prescriptions to buy
the medicines at the pharmacist's."

f. Statement by Mr. Martin Sanneman, witness

On April 8, 1994, he traveled to Chaco, accompanied by two attorneys who had
agreed to represent the Enxet indigenous peoples from that area (i.e., Lengua,
Sanapana and Angaité), the President of the INDI and the Vice-president of the
Asociacion de Parcialidades Indigenas (Indigenous Groups Association). His trip had
a threefold purpose: (1) to investigate and verify the complaint lodged by the
leaders of the Sawhoyamaxa Community concerning forest cuttings carried out by
the owner of the Loma Pord estate, which forests were allegedly part of the lands
they claimed, and upon which an injunctive order to let matters stand had been
issued; (2) to visit the Alwatetkok indigenous village located at the Maroma estate,
in order to look into the working conditions of the indigenous people in that place,
who are also members of the Sawhoyamaxa indigenous community; and (3) to visit
the Indigenous Community in Siete Horizontes, whose members are living alongside
the Transchaco highway.

The Sawhoyamaxa community comprises over 80 families from nine villages of the
Enxet-Lengua people: Massama Apxagkok (Loma Pord), Elwatetkok (Maroma),
Eknennakté Yannenpeywa (Ledesma), Kello Ateg (Naranjito), Ekpawachawok
(Diana), Llamaza Apak, Menduk Kwe, Yacu Kai and Kild6metro 16. On August 6, 1991,
the latter requested the Instituto de Bienestar Rural [Rural Welfare Institute] to
legalize a portion of their traditional lands. The land claimed is located around
Sawhoyamaxa (Santa Elisa) and it is part of the Loma Pord estate, which has an
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extension of approximately 61,000. The estate is divided into two holdings, owned
by the companies Urbana Inmobiliaria S.A. (Urban Real Estate, Inc.) and Compafiia
Paraguaya de Engorde Novillos S.A.

Upon arrival at his destination, he could verify that an immense extension of woods
had been deforested. Furthermore, he found approximately one hundred temporary,
informal workers, who had been hired to plant grazing pastures in the deforested
area.

Before arriving in the area claimed by the Community, the witness visited the
Alwatétkok indigenous village, located in the Maroma estate. Prior to this, the
leaders of the Sawhoyamaxa Community had denounced before Congress the
working conditions of the indigenous people living in this village. At the time, the
village was made up of 78 people, out of which five men and one woman worked at
the estate. None of them knew what their monthly wages were. According to them,
the owner paid them every Christmas. Apparently, they worked “independently”, and
received the following weekly provisions for free: half a kilo of locro, half a kilo of
tapioca flour, half a kilo of beans, half a kilo of salt and half a kilo of yerba mate.
They were also given the remains of slaughtered animals. Other provisions and
clothing would be delivered to them on credit. The indigenous people did not know
the prices of the items and provisions they received. According to the interviews the
witness made, the employer made no social security contributions for the indigenous
people, nor did he pay them the statutory year-end bonus, and made them work
seven days a week, without any annual vacation leave. Moreover, the Community
could not grow vegetables in the village, as there were no fences to protect the
patches from the cattle. Their only means to survive was through hunting, gathering
and fishing. However, the owner forbade them from hunting, although they
continued hunting secretly, with the only aim of surviving. There was no school for
the children and there was no health care service whatsoever. They would drink
water from a large pond, and it was quite dirty.

g. Statement by Mr. Oscar Centuridn, withess

He held the position of president of the Instituto Paraguayo del Indigena
(Paraguayan Institute on Indigenous Affairs) from January 2002 to September 2005,
so he is acquainted with the Sawhoyamaxa Indigenous Community, its leader Carlos
Marecos and its legal representatives. In his capacity as President of said institution,
he undertook many procedures to carry on the Instituto de Bienestar Rural [Rural
Welfare Institute] proceedings concerning the land claim by the Sawhoyamaxa
Community, both with the owner of the real property claimed by the Community and
with the public entities having jurisdiction on the matter, in order to raise sufficient
funds to acquire the property claimed. Pursuant to a resolution issued by the
Instituto Paraguayo del Indigena (Paraguayan Institute on Indigenous Affairs), the
owner or his legal representative was requested to sell the real property directly so it
would be made over to the Community. However, the owner refused, alleging that
the estate is in full production. The Community has systematically refused to accept
a property other than the estate they claim, which makes the solution of this
problem very hard or unlikely. Granting alternative lands to the Sawhoyamaxa
Community is feasible since it is part of an ethnic group whose habitat covers the
entire extension of the Presidente Hayes department. Faced with the impossibility of
reaching a friendly settlement with the owner of the lands, the Instituto Paraguayo
del Indigena (Paraguayan Institute on Indigenous Affairs) moved for precautionary
measures to protect the rights of the indigenous people.
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h. Statement by Mr. Pablo Balmaceda-Rodriguez, expert witness

He prepared a report on the medical and sanitary conditions of the members of the
Sawhoyamaxa Indigenous Community during the first quarter of 2003, which was
updated during the first half of January 2006, his last visit having taken place on
January 7, 2006. The expert witness report is limited to the "Santa Elisa" village of
the community, located 376 kilometers down the highway running from Pozo
Colorado to Concepcién.

For the medical study, a group was drawn by lot from the 157 inhabitants of the
Community present that day and various laboratory studies were conducted on
them, commensurate with the number of members in the test group. Based on these
studies, it could be inferred that 22.22% of the inhabitants of this community are
anemic, and 16.66% are in the lowest normal values. Moreover, it was also found
that 50% of the population examined suffers from parasite infection.

Afterwards they made a round of the village, to find that the inhabitants lacked
drinking water. The most reliable source of drinking water is the rainwater they
gather, but it is very scarce because of inadequate storing facilities. Thus, the small
earth dams located inside the fenced lands claimed by the Sawhoyamaxa Indigenous
Community for their own are their main source of water, so its members are forced
to break into the premises in hiding to get water for their personal use and hygiene.
The water is exposed to contact with wild animals and other animals bred on the
estate, and it receives the debris flushed by the rain. In November 2002, the
members of the Community received a 5,000-liter fiberglass reservoir, which the
tank trucks from the Centro Nacional de Emergencia [National Emergency Center]
supplied with water drawn from some small earth dam or other, that is to say non-
drinking water. In January 2003, they received another high-capacity fiberglass tank.
One of the tanks is how broken and the other one is not used because water has not
been supplied for several months.

The 24 huts comprising the Community are very precarious. They are made from
karanda'y, a palm leaf they use to build the walls and roof of these dwellings
because it abounds in the area. The dwellings are so precarious that when it rains
they get flooded, including the overcrowded rooms. Owing to the characteristics of
the soil in Chaco, water is not easily absorbed by the earth, so “all that water
gathers without draining.” To this, it should be added that only a few families have
managed to build precarious latrines. To relieve nature, they have to cross the
fences surrounding the property, and do their business in plain view of the other
members of the Community. When it rains, the stagnant water covers the floor of
the huts with the excrement that has been spread behind the fencing. It is needless
to point out the immense risk this poses for health. In his last visit on January 7,
2006, he could verify the deterioriation of the dwellings compared to previous visits.
The room they use as a school is leaning and about to collapse.

To determine the probable causes of the deaths that have ocurred in this
Community, the next of kin of the deceased persons were interviewed. Seldom are
these deaths recorded in any public registry.

In many of the cases of the deceased members of the Community did not receive
previous medical care, and those who got to the hospital were not assisted, either
because their next of kin could not buy the medicines prescribed or because the
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physicians determined there was nothing that could be done in their cases.
Moreover, according to the next of kin of the dead people, they received humiliating
treatment. Likewise, it was determined from the account of the mothers that several
children died from tetanus, measles and diarrhea.

The members of the Community have lived for many vyears in absolute
precariousness. The State is absent; there are no representatives of police, court or
welfare authorities, such as health care authorities.

i. Statement by Mr. José Marcelo Brunstein-Alegre, expert withess

The territorial claims of the indigenous communities populating the Paraguayan
Chaco have unleashed a conflict of interests with the current owners, who are mostly
cattle farmers. The latter have resisted possible condemnations for the purpose of
favoring the territorial claims stating arguments aimed at justifying the advancement
of societies, openly alluding to the risk of their properties being expropriated and title
to them subsequently conveyed to indigenous communities “whose way of lifes are
based on hunting and gathering.” They argued that to reproduce that way of life in
current times would not only require an enormous amount of lands, but it would also
prevent the members of indigenous communities from “evolving” and enjoying “the
benefits of civilization.” The other argument supposedly involves an economic
consideration in that it states that the territorial claims by indigenous peoples causes
severe harm both to the livestock industry and to the investment and re-investment
process.

Paraguay stands out from the other countries in the region for the high proportion of
population still living in rural areas. These, in turn, concentrate most of the poor
population of the country. Thus, recent data suggest that Paraguay currently stands
as the most unequal society in the region. Inequality is evident in the national
agrarian structure reflected in the distribution of lands. Several studies have led to
dramatic findings as regards to land holding in Paraguay. Cattle farming uses
approximately twenty-two million hectares, while agriculture uses next to seven
million hectares. The extensive production system predominating among the cattle
farming establishments in Paraguay is the main cause of the faulty distribution of
lands in the country. A clear example is to be found in that the cattle farming
industry accounted for only 1.5% of the farming establishments in 1991, but they
used almost 80% of the productive lands.

The high proportion of lands with natural pastures and forests suggests that cattle
farming is by far the most important economic activity in connection with the use of
productive resources in the Chaco region. In an inequality environment, it is hard to
find a logical reason that justifies this land ownership structure. Firstly, the
comparison of the amount of resources used by the cattle farming establishments
with their contribution to the national economy is an initial indicator of how
inefficient they are. Even though agriculture uses only one third of the land owned by
the cattle farmers, this activity is three times as large as that of cattle farming with
regard to its share in the Gross Domestic Product (GDP), and has a much larger
share in total exports. A study performed in Paraguay found a clear inverse relation
between land productivity and the size of the estates.
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Institutional reforms facilitating the reallocation of lands would contribute to
increasing farming production and reducing poverty levels. Based on the size of the
cattle farming establishments in Chaco, it may be stated that cattle farming in the
region is mostly extensive, with typically reduced efforts being made to maximize
profits and secure a quick financial return on investment. On the other hand, the
importance of cattle farming in creating employment opportunities is negligible in
terms of employment "quality.” If we analyze the employment conditions frequently
offered to indigenous workers by the cattle farming establishments in Chaco, the
treatment is absolutely reprehensible.

In spite of the legal framework recognizing and demanding respect for the rights of
indigenous peoples, the State is responsible for the social exclusion, poverty and
humiliation of these communities. This is largely due to the denial of the
constitutional right to a territory. Thus, according to the 2002 Report on the
Situation of Human Rights in Paraguay, the lands secured for indigenous peoples in
the East region amount to some 66,356 hectares, and 972,256 hectares in the West
region, and yet they are below the statutory minimum. According to the 2002
National Indigenous Census, to cover the minimum values set forth by statute, it is
necessary to secure some 240,000 hectares in the East region and 1,200,000
hectares in the West region. The claims by indigenous peoples are not necessarily
conflictive; in the case of the Presidente Hayes department, a large percentage of
the lands being claimed do not affect operating productive units.

Unfair practices are followed in determining the prices and choosing the lands for
allocating resources to the indigenous communities. For example, from 1996 to
1998, the Congress passed a budget allocation of about US$ 30,000,000 (thirty
million U.S. dollars) to purchase lands claimed by the indigenous communities.
However, as a result of the misuse of public funds and irregular practices in the
claims proceedings filed by the INDI, lands that were not being claimed were
purchased, and other ones were over-payed.

Among the issues restricting access of the indigenous communities to land are those
concerning the legislation governing the latifundia, or large landed estates, which, in
spite of introducing efficient use and environmental management standards for real
property, set forth loose standards which have not contributed to its disappearance
or to foster distribution and the land market. The Loma Pora estate is an example of
one of the most common practices in Paraguay for concealing the real extension of
lands held by a landowner. This cattle farming establishment covers 61,000 hectares
in all, subdivided into different holdings as a result of the territorial claim of the
Sawhoyamaxa Community, title to which is vested separately in different business
organizations set up for the purpose of splitting up the estate.

j. Statement by Mr. Andrew Leake, expert witness

The general purpose of his study was to review the resources and models of land use
by the indigenous people in the East region of the Paraguayan Chaco, and in this
context to determine whether the extension of 14,404 hectares claimed by the
members of the Sawhoyamaxa Community will allow them to maintain and develop
their own sustenance. The data used for the study was obtained from archives,
personal communications and published material, but the study basically relies on
knowledge the witness has of the region and the indigenous population of Chaco. The
depth of the analysis of the land was limited to broad categories of soil coverage, to
the extent necessary for a preliminary examination. Any more detailed study will



18

require on-site observation of the lands. The information concerning the current land
use was limited to two short interviews conducted by the NGO "Tierraviva.”

The settlements comprising the Sawhoyamaxa Community are located on the East
edge of the Paraguayan Chaco, west of the city of Concepcion. This is the area with
which the Sawhoyamaxa Community has historically been associated; it is situated
within the ancestral territory of the Enxet, stretching over 200 km along the right
bank of Paraguay River, from the Gonzdlez stream in the north up to the Montelindo
stream down south.

Climatic variations in the region directly affect the distribution and abundance of
plants and animal species, on which the indigenous peoples have traditionally relied
for their subsistence.

Historically, the indigenous peoples of the Paraguayan Chaco have provided for their
basic needs by gathering plants and fruit, by fishing and by gathering honey, and
occasionally through small-scale horticulture and the husbandry of farm animals.
People used to have a wide range of techniques for accessing various resources. The
diversity of techniques for procuring food enabled the families to respond to seasonal
variations, which were, on occasion, extreme. Another key element was the ability of
entire groups of families (bands) to regularly change their location, which enabled
them to use resources rotationally.

Because of the structure of the Chaco geography, food resources were located apart
from each other. The Enxet used to live within certain hunting grounds they
established. These areas included places with permanent or semi-permanent water
and the resources needed for the subsistence of the group.

Group mobility was crucial for subsistence, and it has been so for most hunter-
gatherer societies worldwide. This trait gave people the flexibility needed for
adjusting to the changing environment in any circumstance.

The colonization of the Paraguayan Chaco by non-indigenous people, and the
imposition of activities connected with the market economy, triggered a process of
progressive changes in the region such as the transfer of lands to private property.
The fencing in of the fields, together with the authority of the new owners, who
enjoyed the support of government officials, had the effect of restricting, and
eventually stopping, residential mobility. The last hunting grounds reserves of the
Enxet were fenced in at the beginning of 1940.

By the second half of 1970, it was estimated that over 70% of the people who lived
in communities that had settled in private estates still hunted, fished and gathered.
Paid work, either seasonal or for short terms, literally developed into a whole new
subsistence method for the indigenous people. The restrictions on residential mobility
meant that the indigenous people could not relocate to new hunting grounds, which
led to the depletion of game in the area. The settled communities developed small-
scale vegetable patches (sweet potato and tapioca were the most common crops).

The lands claimed by the Sawhoyamaxa Community lie between two wide stretches
of palm-tree savannah situated to their north and south. The territory comprises a
corridor joining a series of forest islands separating these two savannahs. These
forests are associated to water streams running from west to east towards the
Paraguay River, and includes gallery forests. The diversity of the vegetation covering
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it, combined with the watercourses, makes the territory an ideal habitat for a wide
range of wildlife, including the pecari, frequently associated with palm-tree
savannahs. Two watercourses run across the claimed lands, i.e., the Zanjita Stream,
north of the Concepcién-Pozo Colorado highway, and the Maroma Stream, to the
south. These watercourses divide the land in three sections of equal sizes. The lands
claimed offer a good assortment of the resources the indigenous people would
typically use. This makes the lands an ideal place for the eventual settlement of the
community.

The northern section of the land, mostly covered with palm-tree savannahs, has
been used for grazing cattle since before 1990. Although it is hard to confirm by the
satellite images used for this study, it is highly probable that the cattle has been
feeding in the high lands covered by quebracho forests.

Likewise, these lands have been deforested since 1990 for growing new pastures,
and fenced in for intensive cattle grazing. The deforested areas cover approximately
2,000 hectares, a great part of which are located within the Michi estate, to the north
of the road. This measurement is not accurate and should be checked by means of
an on-site inspection. From an ecological standpoint, it is most regrettable that
deforestation has done away with the integrity of the vegetation of the lands
claimed.

Theoretically, the lands claimed by the Sawhoyamaxa Community satisfy almost all
of the criteria upheld by the other Enxet communities in their search for lands in
which to settle. These criteria are: access to the land by the indigenous people who
file their claim, access roads, economic potential, suitability of the land for crops and
cattle, safe water sources, location within the areas traditionally used by the group,
and possibility of hunting. Moreover, its location is ideal, as it would enable the
indigenous people to reach the city of Concepcion and other urban centers.

The 400 individuals comprising the Community are currently spread throughout
several residence locations. It is unlikely that the 14,404 hectares claimed by the
Sawhoyamaxa Community be sufficient, both in quality and in extension, to home
the reunited people and enable them to procure their subsistence from activities
carried out on those lands.

Land should be seen as an element enabling indigenous families to enhance and
develop their current subsistence strategies according to their own priorities. This
requires a detailed understanding of their landholding practices and subsistence
methods, and any imposition concerning the use of lands by external authorities will
constitute a violation of the indigenous people’s sovereignty and self-determination.
Following this approach, it would be possible to conclude that the lands claimed by
the Sawhoyamaxa Community are fit to provide the people with a safe base
wherefrom they can (a) continue with their current subsistence activities,
guaranteeing their physical survival in the short and mid term; (b) develop
alternative, safer activities enabling them to survive in the long term, which they
currently cannot carry out owing to their extreme physical vulnerability and their
state of economic poverty.

k. Expert Opinion of Mr. Augusto Fogel Pedrozo, expert witnhess
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The expert witness referred to “the most relevant aspects” of the legal framework in
effect in Paraguay which is applicable to the instant case. Thus, he expressly referred
to the provisions contained in the National Constitution, to ILO Convention 169 on
Indigenous and Tribal Peoples in Independent Countries, to Law No. 904/81 on the
Status of Indigenous Communities), as well as to the Criminal Code, the Code of
Criminal Procedure, the legislation on environmental and judicial matters, ministerial
resolutions, and resolutions issued by the Office of the Attorney General.

The Executive Order containing the regulations for enforcing Law No. 904/81 on the
Status of Indigenous Communities is still pending, but several amendments have
been made thereto, among them Law No. 2199/03 which dissolved the Junta
Consultiva (Advisory Board) and the Consejo Directivo (Governing Board) of the
Instituto Paraguayo del Indigena (Paraguayan Institute on Indigenous Affairs), which
is now under the control of a President appointed by the Executive, as well as Law
No. 919/96, which amended and extended Articles 30, 31, 62, 63 (d) and 71 of Law
No. 904/81 on the Status of Indigenous Communities. On the other hand, on
November 10, 2005 the National Congress of Paraguay passed Bill No. 2922/2005 on
the Status of Indigenous Peoples and Communities, which would supersede Law No.
904/81 on the Status of Indigenous Communities. Several Articles of said bill were
challenged by the Executive, whereby it was returned to Congress, which shall finally
resolve after the legislative recess.

The expert witness stated that the Judiciary in Paraguay does not include specific
courts for agricultural matters, wherefore land management is under the
administrative control of the Instituto de Bienestar Rural (Institute of Rural Welfare)
(which at present is the Instituto de Desarrollo Rural y de la Tierra —INDERT
(Institute for Rural Development and Land Issues) a government agency which
distributes lands and settles conflicts in the first instance, and whose decisions can
be appealed before the Tribunal de Cuentas (Government Auditing Office).

The expert witnhess concluded that the indigenous legislation of Paraguay, on the
whole, may be considered to be favorable to the interests of the indigenous peoples.
The Paraguayan legal system recognizes the special way indigenous peoples relate to
the lands and territories they occupy or use in any way, and establishes their right to
ownership and possession of the lands they traditionally occupy. In sum, it is
possible to say that, Paraguay has a constitutional and legal framework which is
quite advanced and that what is missing is the effective promotion and enforcement
of the laws which protect indigenous peoples in the context of a national society that
is still quite racist. The main weakness of the legislation lies in the ineffectual scope
of the procedure; some provisions are merely declaratory and the operational
instances provided for in the legislation do not have the authority or the power to
fully enforce the provisions thereof. Failure to comply with the law is not punished,
and therefore, it is enforced only partially or at will by the individuals who are bound
thereby. In order to render constitutional and legal provisions effective, Paraguay
must create an effective mechanism to claim the ancestral lands, whereby the right
to property of the indigenous communities may be enforced, pursuant to the
American Convention.

B) EVIDENCE ASSESSMENT
35. In this section the Court shall rule on the assessment of the evidence tendered

to the Tribunal, regarding both the formal admissibility standards applicable thereto
and their material value relating the facts in the instant case.
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36. In the instant case, as in others®, the Court recognizes the evidentiary value of
the documents submitted by the parties at the appropriate procedural stage, which
have neither been disputed nor challenged, and whose authenticity has not been
questioned.

37. As to the sworn statements which have been rendered before a public official
whose acts command full faith and credit (affidavits) by Carlos Marecos-Aponte,
Leonardo Gonzalez, Gladys Benitez, Elsa Ayala, and Mariana Ayala, alleged victims in
the instant case (supra para. 34), the Court admits them inasmuch as they are in
accordance with the object thereof, as set forth in the Order of the President issued
on December 21, 2005 (supra para. 18). The Court has considered that the
statements given by the alleged victims cannot be assessed separately for they have
an interest in the outcome of the instant case, and therefore, must be assessed as a
whole with the rest of the body of evidence, applying thereto the standards of
reasonable credit and weight analysis.” Regarding both the merits of the case and
reparations, the statements given by the alleged victims and their next of kin may
provide useful information on the alleged violations and the consequences thereof.®

38. Likewise, the Court notes that the State challenged the statement given
before a public official whose acts command full faith and credit (affidavit) by Ms.
Elsa Ayala and by “the other members of the Sawhoyamaxa [Clommunity,”
regarding the alleged failure to provide medical care at the hospitals of Paraguay,
when these lack financial resources. In this regard, it stated that “the Ministry of
Public Health provides free medical care to everybody, and particularly, to the poor;
furthermore, local Governments have a department for the assistance of indigenous
people, to which they can resort and where they are always assisted and advised.”
As evidence of the foregoing, the State attached Resolution No. 280/92, “wherein it
is established that besides being provided with free medical care, the indigenous
people should be exempted from paying for medical tests and other procedures
carried out at the Hospital Nacional de ltaugua (Itaugua National Hospital)” and
Circular Letter S.G. No. 1/95, issued by the Ministry of Public Health and Social
Welfare, on “full, deferential, and free medical care to indigenous groups.” In this
regard, the Inter-American Court considers that the statement given by Ms. Elsa
Ayala, as well as those given by the other members of the Sawhoyamaxa
Community regarding their situation and living conditions, may contribute to the
determination of such facts by the Court and this is the reason why it assesses them
as a whole with the rest of the body of evidence, applying thereto the standards of
reasonable credit and weight analysis and taking into consideration the comments
submitted by the State (supra para. 23).

39. As to the expert opinion given before a public official whose acts command
full faith and credit (affidavits) by expert witnesses José Marcelo Brunstein and
Augusto Fogel (supra para. 34(i) and (k)), as well as the statement given by witness

6 Cf. Case of Acevedo-Jaramillo et al, supra note 3, para. 189; Case of Lopez-Alvarez, supra note 3,

para. 41, and Case of Pueblo Bello Massacre, supra note 3, para. 71.
7 Cf. Case of Acevedo-Jaramillo et al, supra note 3, para. 203; Case of Lopez-Alvarez, supra note
3, para. 50, and Case of Pueblo Bello Massacre, supra note 3, para. 73.

8 Cf. Case of Gutiérrez-Soler. Judgment of September 12, 2005. Series C No. 132, para. 45; Case
of YATAMA. Judgment of June 23, 2005. Series C No. 127, para. 116, and Case of the Indigenous
Community Yakye Axa, supra note 1, para. 43.
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Oscar Centurion (supra para. 34 (g)), the Court admits them inasmuch as they are in
accordance with the object thereof and assesses them as a whole with the rest of the
body of evidence, applying thereto the standards of reasonable credit and weight
analysis. Furthermore, the Court shall take into consideration the comments made
by the representatives as regards to the statement given by Mr. Oscar Centuriéon and
the expert opinion given by Mr. Augusto Fogel (supra para. 23).

40. As to the expert statement given before a public official whose acts command
full faith and credit (affidavit) by Mr. Martin Sanneman (supra para. 34 (f)), the
Court has verified that its content is a copy of the report submitted by the Inter-
American Commission as attachment No. 16 to the application, entitled “Report to
the President of the Chamber of Deputies of the Congress, to the Commission on
Human Rights and to the Ecology Committee regarding the situation of indigenous
peoples and forest cutting in the Chaco,” likewise authored by Mr. Martin Sanneman
on April 8, 1994, and which the Court assesses as such. The expert report submitted
through an affidavit shall be assessed inasmuch as it is in accordance with the object
set forth in Order of the President issued on December 21, 2005 (supra para. 18).

41. As to the expert opinion given before a public official whose acts command
full faith and credit (affidavit) by expert witness Pablo Balmaceda-Rodriguez (supra
para. 34 (f)), the Court has verified that its content is an updated reaffirmation of
the report submitted by the Inter-American Commission as attachment No. 8 to the
complaint, entitled “Medical and Health Report on the Enxet Sawhoyamaxa
Community,” also authored by Mr. Balmaceda-Rodriguez during the first semester of
2003, and which the Court assesses as such. The expert report submitted through an
affidavit shall be assessed inasmuch as it is in accordance with the object set forth in
Order of the President issued on December 21, 2005 (supra para. 18).

42. Regarding the expert opinion of Mr. Andrew Paul Leake, which was not given
before a public official whose acts command full faith and credit, the Court admits it
inasmuch as it is in accordance with the object set forth in Order of the President
issued on December 21, 2005 and assesses it as a whole with the rest of the body of
evidence, applying thereto the standards of reasonable credit and weight analysis.
On other occasions the Court has admitted sworn statements which were not given
before a public official with authority to confer full faith and credit to the acts passed
before him provided that legal certainty and the procedural equality between the
parties are not impaired.®

43. At the due procedural stage(supra para. 20) the Inter-American Commission
and the representatives submitted their comments to the expert opinions rendered by
Mr. Bernardo Jacquet and Mr. César Escobar-Cattebecke in the Case of the Indigenous
Community Yakye Axa v. Paraguay, admitted as documentary evidence at the request
of the State, to the record of the instant case, by virtue of Order of the President of
December 21, 2005 (supra para. 18). In this regard, the representatives stated, inter
alia, that “[b]Joth the expert opinion given by Bernardo Jacquet and that given by
César Escobar-Cattebecke contain general information which makes no reference to
the case in point. Though they list the sanitary facilities and medical aid posts which
allegedly exist in the area of Chaco, such information is not complete since it does not

o Cf. Case of Acevedo-Jaramillo et al, supra note 3, para. 191; Case of “Mapiripan Massacre.”

Judgment of September 15, 2005. Series C No. 134; para. 82, and Case of Gutiérrez-Soler, supra note 8,
para. 45.
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contain clear data which allow assessing the effectiveness of the medical care services
these facilities may provide to the Sawhoyamaxa indigenous community, and even to
any other community.” For its part, the Commission stated that both expert opinions
did not “properly illustrate the situation which is the object of the expert opinion.” The
Court, notwithstanding, considers that the foregoing expert opinions may be useful for
the determination of the facts by the Court in the instant case, and therefore, it
assesses them as a whole with the rest of the body of evidence, applying thereto the
standards of reasonable credit and weight analysis and taking into consideration the
comments submitted by the Inter-American Commission and the representatives and
inasmuch as they are in accordance with the object set forth in Order of the President
issued on December 21, 2005 (supra para. 18).

44, As to the compact disc submitted by the Commission together with the
application (supra para. 10), the Court admits it into the body of evidence, pursuant
to Article 45(1) of the Rules of Procedure. Notwithstanding, the Court shall assess the
content of the above mentioned disc within the context of the body of evidence, as it
has done in other cases,'® taking into consideration that it contains a video which was
edited by the representatives of the alleged victims.

45, As to the press documents submitted by the parties, the Court considers that
they may be assessed insofar as they refer to public and notorious facts or statements
given by State officials or confirm aspects related to the case in point.!?

46. The Court finds helpful for the adjudication of the instant case the documents
submitted by the representatives in their written final arguments (supra para. 25)
which have not been questioned and the authenticity or truthfulness of which have
not been challenged, whereby the Court admits them into the body of evidence,
pursuant to Article 45(1) of the Rules of Procedure.

47. As to the documents tendered as evidence to facilitate the adjudication of the
case (supra paras. 24 and 26), the Court admits them into the body of evidence of
the instant case, pursuant to the provisions of Article 45(2) of the Rules of Procedure,
taking into consideration the comments submitted by the parties (supra paras. 27 and
28). In particular, this Court decides to admit the statement given before a public
official whose acts command full faith and credit by Mr. Carlos Marecos on February
13, 2006, submitted by the representatives as evidence since it may be helpful to
facilitate the adjudication of the instant case and since it complies with the request by
the President (supra para. 24).

48. As to the other documents requested as evidence to facilitate the adjudication
of the instant case and which have not been produced before the Court neither by the
State nor by the representatives (supra para. 22), the Court points out that in order
to have the greatest possible number of facts with which to form a judgment and
substantiate its decisions, it is essential that the parties submit on their own motion

10 Cf. Case of Acevedo-Jaramillo et al, supra note 3, para. 193, and Case of Serrano-Cruz Sisters.

Judgment of March 1, 2005. Series C No. 120, para. 40.
1 Cf. Case of Acevedo-Jaramillo et al, supra note 3, para. 199; Case of Lépez-Alvarez, supra note 3,
para. 49; and Case of Pueblo Bello Massacre, supra note 3, para. 74.
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or at their request!? all supporting evidence required to facilitate the adjudication of

the instant case. In proceedings on violations of human rights this duty is particularly
binding on the State, which is obliged to submit before the Court the evidence which
can only be obtained with its cooperation.!?

49, Furthermore, pursuant to Article 45(1) of the Rules of Procedure, the Court
admits into the body of evidence the following evidence produced in the Case of the
Indigenous Community Yakye Axa, since it is helpful for the adjudication of the instant
case: book titled “Il Censo Nacional Indigena de Poblacién y Viviendas 2002. Pueblos
Indigenas del Paraguay. Resultados finales” [II 2002 National Indigenous Population
and Housing Census]. Indigenous Peoples of Paraguay. Final Results], Direccion
General de Estadisticas, Encuestas y Censos [Bureau of Statistics, Surveys and
Censuses], Paraguay, 2002; book titled “Atlas de las Comunidades Indigenas en el
Paraguay” (Atlas of the Indigenous Communities in Paraguay), Direccidn General de
Estadisticas, Encuestas y Censos [Bureau of Statistics, Surveys and Censuses],
Paraguay, 2002; report by Mr. Julio Monzén and Mr. Juan Almeida, addressed to the
President of the Council of the “Instituto Paraguayo del Indigena” [Paraguayan
Institute for Indigenous Affairs] (hereinafter “the INDI”) on August 20, 2001 and
appendixes thereto; report by Mr. Edgar Pessoa and Mr. Juan Almeida, addressed to
the President of the Council of the INDI on September 10, 2001 and appendixes
thereto; report by Mr. Claudio Miltos, addressed to the President of the Council of the
INDI) on November 5, 2001 and appendixes thereto; report by Mr. Christian
Florentin, addressed to the President of the Council of the INDI on February 4, 2002
and appendixes thereto; report by Mr. Juan Almeida, addressed to the President of
the Council of the INDI on April 5, 2002 and appendixes thereto; report by Mr.
Christian Florentin, addressed to the President of the Council of the INDI on July 22,
2002 and appendixes thereto; report by Mr. Christian Florentin, addressed to the
President of the Council of the INDI on July 29, 2002 and appendixes thereto; and
report by Mr. Christian Florentin, addressed to the President of the Council of the INDI
on September 9, 2002. Likewise, the Court admits the documents listed below as it
deems them helpful for the adjudication of the instant case: press release No. 23/99
issued by the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights on July 30, 1999,
regarding the visit in loco made to Paraguay and report on the situation of human
rights in Paraguay issued by the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights on
March 9, 2001.

50. Among the facts alleged by the Inter-American Commission and subscribed by
the representatives, and which have been challenged by the State, is the death of
several members of the Sawhoyamaxa Community as a consequence of their
allegedly precarious living conditions and the causes thereof. Both the Commission
and the representatives grounded their allegations regarding this fact mainly on the
medical and health report by Mr. Pablo Balmaceda-Rodriguez (supra para. 34(h)).

12 Cf. Case of Gomez-Palomino v. Pert. Judgment of November 22, 2005, Series C No. 136, para.

52; Case of Yean and Bosico Children. Judgment of September 8, 2005. Series C No. 130, para. 89, and
Case of YATAMA, supra note 8, para. 134.

13 Cf. Case of Goémez-Palomino v. Perd, supra note 12, para. 52; Case of Acosta-Calderoén.
Judgment of June 24, 2005, para. 47, and Case of YATAMA, supra note 8, para. 134.
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51. The Court has established that in international proceedings it is necessary to
secure the acquaintance with the truth and the most comprehensive possible
submission of the facts and arguments by the parties, ensuring them the right to the
defense of their respective positions. The submission of testimonies or expert
opinions by means of a written statement given before a public official whose acts
command full faith and credit (affidavit) does not allow the parties to “cross-
examine” witnesses or expert withesses, since there is a procedural stage at which
the parties may file the comments they may deem relevant pursuant to the principle
of the adversary proceedings,* as the State did in its pleading on February 10, 2006
regarding the expert opinion given by Mr. Pablo Balmaceda-Rodriguez (supra para.
34(h)).

52. On that occasion the State challenged “the expert opinion on the alleged dead
persons, since it was based on interviews with some of their next of kin, [that] is,
the expert witness had not treated t[h]em before, and no diagnoses had been made
regarding the alleged diseases they suffered.”

53. The Court takes into consideration that in order to establish the cause of
death of some persons and its relation to the medical and health conditions
prevailing in the settlements of the members of the Sawhoyamaxa Community,
expert witness Pablo Balmaceda-Rodriguez visited the Community and interviewed
the mothers of the victims or their next of kin. It is clear that such a report would be
more comprehensive and reliable if it had been carried out on the dead people or
based on previous diagnoses of the diseases they suffered. However, within the
context of the facts alleged in the instant case, which precisely refer to the alleged
neglect of the members of the Community, and given their actual impossibility to
obtain further supporting evidence, it is to be admitted that the knowledge of the
expert witness may be gained based on the data and elements that were available to
him.

54, On the other hand, though the State questioned the expert opinion given by
Mr. Balmaceda-Rodriguez, it did not tender any documents to support its statements
or to challenge the assessment of the facts or the findings contained therein.
Furthermore, the State, failed to submit to the Court the evidence requested thereby
to facilitate the adjudication of the instant case (supra para. 26), which in
conjunction with the opinion stated by the expert witness himself, by the
representatives and by the Commission leads the Court to assume the non-existence
of further diagnoses or medical evidence regarding the diseases the members of the
Community allegedly suffered.

55. In fact, for the purpose of gaining the best possible knowledge of the disputed
facts, and pursuant to Article 45(2) of the Rules of Procedure (supra para. 22), the
President deemed advisable to request the State and the representatives that, as
evidence to facilitate the adjudication of the instant case, they forward the birth and
death certificates, autopsy protocols, and any other relevant documents which may
reveal the causes of the alleged deaths of the members of the Sawhoyamaxa
Indigenous Community mentioned as alleged victims of the violation of the right to
life. Likewise, he requested the State that it submit to the Court:

14 Cf. Case of Palamara-Iribarne. Judgement of November 22, 2005. Series C No. 135, para 58.
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the medical records, medical certificates, or any other documents which show if the
persons [..] mentioned received some type of medical care in any medical field of
specialization, at any hospital, clinic, health center or any other type of health facility,
within six months prior to their death, and a detailed report on the alleged health and
food assistance supplied by any State agency to the members of the Sawhoyamaxa
Indigenous Community from the effective date of Presidential Executive Order No. 3.789
of June 23, 1999, to date.

56. The representatives submitted the documents “which the members of the
Sawhoyamaxa Community were able to gather,” in conjunction with an affidavit by
the Community leader, Mr. Carlos Marecos, which “certifies the date of death of each
of the victims and the pertinent degree of parentage or kinship” (supra para. 24).
The representatives argued that “on many occasions the members of the Community
cannot go to the assistance centers to receive care for their health or even for their
life due to their lack of financial means, let alone going to vital statistics offices.”

57. For its part, the State only forwarded documents related to the medical care
provided to the Yakye Axa and Sawhoyamaxa Indigenous Communities during the
second semester of 2005 and argued that it was not possible to find the “record
books of births and thus verify the existence of persons [nor their] medical records
[or] evidence of medical care.”

58. By virtue of the foregoing, the Court considers that the expert opinion given
through an affidavit by Mr. Pablo Balmaceda is a relevant circumstance for the
adjudication of the instant case, whereby it shall be assessed together with the rest
of the body of evidence as a whole.

VI. PRIOR CONSIDERATIONS

59. Since the instant case addresses the issue of the rights of the members of an
indigenous community, the Court considers it suitable to point out that, as it has
done on other occasions,’ pursuant to Articles 24 (Equal Protection of the Law) and
1(1) (Obligation to Respect Rights) of the American Convention, the States should
guarantee, under equal conditions, the full exercise and enjoyment of the rights of
these individuals who are under their jurisdiction.

60. Notwithstanding, it is to be emphasized that in order to effectively guarantee
these rights, in interpreting and applying their domestic legislation, the States should
take into consideration the characteristics which differentiate the members of the
indigenous peoples from the general population and which conform their cultural
identity. The same line of reasoning should be adopted by the Court, as it shall in the
instant case, to assess the scope and meaning of the Articles of the American
Convention the State has been charged with breaking by the Commission and the
representatives.

61. For the purpose of determining the object of the alleged violation of Article 4
of the American Convention (infra paras. 148 to 185), the Court shall now examine
the various lists of the Community members who allegedly died as a consequence of
the alleged failure of the State to comply with its duty to prevent violations of the

15 Cf. Case of the Indigenous Community Yakye Axa, supra note 1, para. 51.



27

right to life, which were submitted by the Commission and the representatives during
the processing of the instant case.

62. In its application, the Inter-American Commission stated specifically that from
1991 to 2003 thirty-one members of the Community died, but at the time it did not
expressly request that the State be declared internationally liable for such deaths.
The list of persons who died, their age, date of death and cause of death furnished
by the Commission were as follows:

No. Name and sex AGE AT DATE OF DEATH Cause of death
DEATH
1 NN Galarza (m) 1 month September, Tetanus
2001
2 Rosana Lépez (f) 3 years 1997 Measles
3 NN Ferreira (m) 1991 No data
4 NN Ferreira (m) 6 months 1991 Enterocolitis
5 Eduardo Caceres 1 year 1999 Pneumonia
(m)
6 Eulalio Caceres 1 month 1999 Pneumonia
(m)
7 Esteban Gonzadlez  No data 2000 Measles
(m)
8 NN Gonzalez 3 months December, Enterocolitis
Aponte 2002
9 Wilfrido Gonzalez 20 years 1997 Traffic accident
(m)
10  Leoncio Gonzalez 2 years 1991 Anemia-Parasitosis
(m)
11 Rosana 1 year 1991 Enterocolitis
Gonzalez(f)
12  Teresio Gonzalez 60 years May 11, 2003  Traffic accident
(m)
13 NN Yegros (m) 8 months May 30, 2002 Pneumonia
14  Antonio Alvarenga 18 years August 16, Murder
(m) 1998
15 Jenny Toledo (f)!* 1 yearand  August 24, Dehydration
8 months 2003
16  Guido Ruiz Diaz 4 months August 15, Enterocolitis
(m) 2002
17 NN Gonzalez (m) 13 days May 15, 2002 Tetanus
18  Luis Torres 21 years August 24, Enterocolitis
Chavez (m) 2002
19 Derlis Armando 1 year 2002 Cachexia
Torres(m)
20 NN Torres (f) 3 days May 2003 Blood dyscrasia
21  Lucia Aponte (f) 50 years 2002 Tuberculosis
22  Marcos Chavez 70 years 2000 Polytraumatism
(m)
23 Juan Ramon 1 year and October 10, Pneumonia
Gonzalez(m) 6 months 2002

16 The representatives of the alleged victims identified her as “Yenny Toledo” in their respective

pleadings.
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24  Antonio Gonzalez 1 month November, Tetanus
(m) 1996
25 Pedro Fernandez 79 years October 12, Pneumonia
(m) 2001
26  Ramona Flores (f) 65 years July 16, 1995 Pneumonia
27 Sandra E. Chavez 7 months 1993 Pneumonic bronchitis
(f)
28 Eusebio Ayala (m) 80 years March 16, Pneumonia/hypertension
1998
29 Francisca Britez 10 months October 23, Enterocolitis
(f) 2000
30 Diego Andrés 13 months October 3, Enterocolitis
Ayala (m) 2002
31 Ana Maria 15 days March, 1991 Tetanus

Florentin (f)

63. For their part, in their brief of requests, arguments and evidence, the
representatives stated that thirty-two Community members had died, out of whom
31 match the list furnished by the Commission (supra para. 62), to which the
following person was added:

32 Juan Ramoén Marecos 2 years and October, 2004 Pneumonia
(m) a half

64. Notwithstanding, in their brief of requests and arguments, the representatives
requested the Court to it adjudge and declare that the State “has failed to comply
with its obligation to guarantee the right to life enshrined in Article 4 of the American
Convention,” to the prejudice of twenty-three persons, namely: NN Galarza (case
No. 1), Rosana Lopez (case No. 2), Eduardo Caceres (Case No. 5), Eulalio Caceres
(case No. 6), Esteban Gonzalez (case No. 7), NN Gonzalez Aponte (case No. 8),
Wilfrido Gonzalez (case No. 9), Teresio Gonzalez (case No. 12), NN Yegros (case No.
13), Antonio Alvarenga (case No. 14), Jenny Toledo (case No. 15), Guido Ruiz-Diaz
(case No. 16), NN Gonzalez (case No. 17), Luis Torres Chavez (case No. 18), Derlis
Armando Torres (case No. 19), NN Torres (case No. 20), Lucia Aponte (case No. 21),
Marcos Chavez (case No. 22), Juan Ramoén Gonzalez (case No. 23), Pedro Fernandez
(case No. 25), Eusebio Ayala (case No. 28), Francisca Britez (case 29) and Diego
Andrés Ayala (case No. 30).

65. Later on, in its written final arguments the Commission stated that
“[p]ursuant to the expert opinion of Dr. Pablo Balmaceda [...] regretfully the number
of members of the Community who died [...] is higher than the one stated in the
application,” and requested the Court that it declare that such deaths are “to be
charged to the State.”

66. In their written final arguments the representatives stated that from 2003 “to
the moment the expert opinion of [Mr.] Pablo Balmaceda was submitted [...], 14
more persons died,” whose deaths they requested be charged to the State.

67. The persons mentioned in the statement given by expert withess Pablo
Balmaceda before a public official whose acts command full faith and credit and who
were neither included in the application nor in the brief of requests and arguments
are as follows:
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33 Julia Benitez Galarza 1 year 1990 Dysentery
(f)
34 NN Yegros (m) 15 days Tetanus
35 Juana Maria Chavez 3 years 1988 Enterocolitis-
() dehydration
36 Nelson Florentin (m) 7 years 1989 Measles
37 Ramon Asuncién 5 months February, 1991 Fever
Florentin (m)
38 Marcelino Chavez 5 years 1989 Measles
(m)
39 NN Ayala (m) 2 years “22 years ago” (f. Pneumonia
692)
40 NN Ayala (m) 2 days after  July 6, 1983 Sepsis
being born
41 Mercedes Ayala (f) 1 year Tetanus
42 Karina Maribel 7 months February 14, 2004 Respiratory failure
Chavez (f)
43 Silvia Adela Chavez 2 months September 27, Respiratory failure
(f) 2005
44 Esteban Jorge 2 months December 5, 2005 Dyspnea and
Alvarenga (m) respiratory failure
45 Arnaldo Galarza (m) 2 and a half  December 10, Malnutrition,
months 2005 dyspnea and
general edema
46 Fatima Galarza (f) 3 months January 6, 2006 Malnutrition,

dyspnea and
general edema

68. The Court has already established that as regards to the facts which
constitute the purpose of the proceedings, it is not possible for the representatives to
allege new matters of fact other than those alleged in the application, without
prejudice to the possibility of stating those facts which allow explaining, clarifying or
dismissing those which have been stated in the application or replying to the claims
put forth by the applicant. This is quite different from the case of the supervening
facts, which can be submitted by either party at any stage of the proceedings before
judgment is rendered.’

69. In this regard, the Court notes that the death of the child Juan Ramédn
Marecos (case No. 32) was not included in the petition filed with the Commission,
but in the pleading submitted by the representatives; that is to say, it is a new fact.
Furthermore, the alleged date of death of the child is prior to the filing of the
petition, whereby it may be deemed to be a supervening fact. In view of this, such
death shall not be examined by the Court.

70. Regarding the fourteen deaths referred to by expert witness Pablo Balmaceda
(cases No. 33 to 46), which the representatives and the Commission requested that
be charged to the State in their respective final written pleadings, the Court has
verified that only the deaths of the children Silvia Adela Chavez (case No. 43),
Esteban Jorge Alvarenga (case no. 44), Arnaldo Galarza (case No. 45) and Fatima

17 Cf. Case of Pueblo Bello Massacre, supra note 3, para. 54; Case of Mapiripan Massacre, supra

note 9, paras. 58 and 59, and Case of “Five Pensioners.” Judgment of February 28, 2003. Series C No. 98.
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Galarza (case No. 46) occurred after the filing of the application by the Commission,
whereby they shall be examined by the Court as supervening facts. The other cases
(No. 33 to 42) refer to deaths which occurred prior to the filing of the petition and
the Commission did not justify why it had not included them before, whereby they
shall not be considered.

71. Finally, the Court notes that within the list of the 31 deceased submitted by
the Commission, the death of members of the Community having occurred before
Paraguay accepted the contentious jurisdiction of the Inter-American Court on March
26, 1993 is mentioned. These deaths include the following cases: NN Ferreira (case
No. 3), NN Ferreira (case No. 4), Leoncio Gonzalez (case No. 10), Rosana Gonzalez
(case No. 11) and Ana Maria Florentin (case No. 31). The Court has no juridiction to
hear these cases.

72. In view of the foregoing, in its conclusions on the alleged violation of Article 4
of the American Convention, out of the above mentioned cases the Court shall
examine as alleged victims only cases No. 1, 2, 5to 9, 12 to 30 and 43 to 46, as
they appear above.

VIl. PROVEN FACTS

73. Having assessed the documentary evidence, the statements rendered by the
witnesses, the expert opinions given by the expert witnesses, as well as the
statements submitted by the Inter-American Commission, by the representatives
and by the State in the proceeding of the instant case, the Court finds the following
facts to be proven:

a) The Sawhoyamaxa Indigenous Community and the traditional occupation of
the lands claimed

73(1) Towards the end of the 19" century vast stretches of land in the Paraguayan
Chaco were acquired by British businessmen through the London Stock Exchange as
a consequence of the debt owed by Paraguay after the so-called War of the Triple
Alliance. The division and sale of such territories were made while their inhabitants,
who, at the time, were exclusively Indians, were kept in full ignorance of the facts.
That is how several missions of the Anglican Church started settling in the area. In
1901 the “South American Missionary Society” settled the first cattle estate in the
Chaco with the purpose of starting the evangelization and “pacification” of the
indigenous communities, and of facilitating their employment in the cattle estates.
The company was known as “Chaco Indian Association”, and its main seat was built
in Alwatétkok.®

18 Cf. statement rendered by Mr. Alberto Braunstein before a public official whose acts command full

faith and credit on February 11, 2005 (case file on the merits, reparations, and costs, Volume III, folios
488 to 500); anthropological report on the (Santa Elisa) "Sawhoyamaxa” Community of the Enxet People.
Centro de Estudios Antropolégicos of the Universidad Catoélica “Nuestra Sefiora de la Asuncion” (Catholic
University “Our Lady of Asuncion” Anthropological Studies Center) (case file of appendixes to the
application, appendix 10, folios 864 to 873), and expert opinion given by Mr. Bartomeu Melia i Lliteres
rendered before the Inter-American Court on March 4, 2005 in the Case of the Indigenous Community
Yakye Axa v. Paraguay (case file on the merits, reparations, and costs, Volume I1I, folios 540 to 556).
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73(2) The economy of the indigenous peoples in the Chaco was mainly based on
hunting, fishing, and gathering,, and therefore, they had to roam their lands to make
use of nature inasmuch as the season and their cultural technology allowed them to,
wherefore they kept moving and occupied a very large area of territory.*®

73(3) Over the years, and particularly after the Chaco War between Bolivia and
Paraguay (1933-1936), the non-indigenous occupation of the Northern Chaco which
had started by the end of the 19th century was extended. The estates that started
settling in the area used the Indians who had traditionally lived there as workers,
who thus became farmhands and employees of new owners. Although the indigenous
peoples continued occupying their traditional lands, the effect of the market
economy activities into which they were incorporated turned out to be the restriction
of their mobility, whereby they ended by becoming sedentary.?

73(4) Since then, the lands of the Paraguayan Chaco have been transferred to
private owners and gradually divided. This increased the restrictions for the
indigenous population to access their traditional lands, thus bringing about significant
changes in its subsistence activities. They increasingly depended on their salary for
food and took advantage of their temporary stay in the various estates settled in the
area to continue developing their subsistence activities (hunting, fishing, and
gathering).?!

73(5) The Sawhoyamaxa (“from the place where coconuts have run out”)
Community is an indigenous community, typical of those traditionally living in the
Paraguayan Chaco that has become sedentary.?? In fact, the members of this
Indigenous Community belong to the South Enxet and North Enhelt Lengua ethnic
groups.?® The South Enxet and the North Enlhet Lengua ethnic groups, as well as the

9 Cf. statement rendered by Mr. Alberto Braunstein before a public official whose acts command full

faith and credit on February 11, 2005, supra note 18, and anthropological report on the (Santa Elisa)
“Sawhoyamaxa” Community of the Enxet People. Centro de Estudios Antropoldgicos of the Universidad
Catolica “Nuestra Sefiora de la Asuncién” (Catholic University “Our Lady of Asuncion” Anthropological
Studies Center), supra note 18.

20 Cf. statement rendered by Mr. Alberto Braunstein before a public official whose acts command full
faith and credit on February 11, 2005, supra note 18; expert opinion of Mr. Bartomeu Melia i Lliteres given
before the Inter-American Court on March 4, 2005 in the Case of the Indigenous Community Yakye Axa v.
Paraguay, supra note 18; statement rendered by Mr. Andrew Paul Leake and translated into Spanish by
Mr. Tito Ulises Lahaye-Diaz before a public official whose acts command full faith and credit on January
25, 2006 (case file on the merits, reparations, and costs, Volume III, folios 777 to 807), and
anthropological report on the (Santa Elisa) “Sawhoyamaxa” Community of the Enxet People. Centro de
Estudios Antropolégicos of the Universidad Catélica “Nuestra Sefiora de la Asuncién”, supra note 18.

2 Cf. statement rendered by Mr. Andrew Paul Leake and translated into Spanish by Mr. Tito Ulises
Lahaye before a public official whose acts command full faith and credit on January 25, 2006, supra note
20.
2 Cf. statement rendered by Mr. Alberto Braunstein before a public official whose acts command full
faith and credit on February 11, 2005, supra note 18; anthropological report on the (Santa Elisa)
“Sawhoyamaxa” Community of the Enxet People. Centro de Estudios Antropoldgicos of the Universidad
Catolica “Nuestra Sefiora de la Asuncion”, supra note 18; statement rendered by Mr. Andrew Paul Leake
and translated into Spanish by Mr. Tito Ulises Lahaye before a public official whose acts command full faith
and credit on January 25, 2006, supra note 20, and expert opinion of Mr. Bartomeu Melia i Lliteres given
before the Inter-American Court on March 4, 2005 in the Case of the Indigenous Community Yakye Axa v.
Paraguay, supra note 18.

z Cf. book titled “Il Censo Nacional Indigena de Poblacion y Vivienda 2002. Pueblos Indigenas del
Paraguay. Resultados Finales” (II 2002 National Indigenous Population and Housing Census. Indigenous
Peoples of Paraguay. Final Results), Direccion General de Estadisticas, Encuestas y Censos [Bureau of
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Sanapana, Toba, Angaité, Toba Maskoy, and Guana communities, are part of the
Maskoy Lengua (Enhelt-Enenlhet) linguistic family and have ancestrally occupied the
Paraguayan Chaco.?

73(6) When the proceedings for claiming the lands were commenced in 1991, the
Sawhoyamaxa Community was made up of the members of several indigenous
villages scattered in various cattle estates®® of the Chaco area, to the west of the
Paraguay river, and among which the most numerous ones were Masama Apxagkok
(Loma Pora Estate) and Elwatétkok (Maroma Estate).?®

Statistics, Surveys and Censuses] of the Secretaria Técnica de Planificacion de la Presidencia de la
Republica (Office of the Technical Secretary of State for Planning to the President of the Republic),
Paraguay, 2002, pages 21, 22, and 23, and book titled “Atlas de las Comunidades Indigenas in el
Paraguay” [Atlas of the Indigenous Communities in Paraguay],” Direccibn General de Estadisticas,
Encuestas y Censos [Bureau of Statistics, Surveys and Censuses] of the Secretaria Técnica de Planificacion
de la Presidencia de la Republica (Office of the Technical Secretary of State for Planning to the President of
the Republic), Paraguay, 2002. Volume II, pages 400 and 401.

24 Cf. book titled “Il Censo Nacional Indigena de Poblacion y Vivienda 2002. Pueblos Indigenas del
Paraguay. Resultados Finales” (II 2002 National Indigenous Population and Housing Census. Indigenous
Peoples of Paraguay. Final Results), Direccién General de Estadistica, Encuestas y Censos (Bureau of
Statistics, Surveys, and Censuses) of the Secretaria Técnica de Planificacion de la Presidencia de la
Republica (Office of the Technical Secretary of State for Planning to the President of the Republic),
Paraguay, 2002, pages 21, 22 and 23; book titled “Atlas de las Comunidades Indigenas in el Paraguay”
[Atlas of the Indigenous Communities in Paraguay],” Direccién General de Estadisticas, Encuestas y
Censos [Bureau of Statistics, Surveys and Censuses] of the Secretaria Técnica de Planificacion de la
Presidencia de la Republica (Office of the Technical Secretary of State for Planning to the President of the
Republic), Paraguay, 2002. Volume II, pages 400 and 401, and anthropological report on the
“Sawhoyamaxa” Community of the Enxet People. Centro de Estudios Antropolégicos of the Universidad
Catolica “Nuestra Sefiora de la Asuncién”, supra note 18.

% Such villages are known as Masama Apxagkok, Elwatétkok, Ekpawamakxakyawok, Kello Ateg,
Elyepwaté Entengy ak Enha, Xakmayohéna, and Nakte-Yannenpéna, and were located within the
following cattle ranches settled in the area: Loma Pora, Maroma, Diana, Naranjito, Menduca cué, Yakukay,
Ledesma, Santa Elisa, and Kilométro 16.

26 Cf. census of the Sawhoyamaxa Indigenous Community conducted by the IBR (Instituto de
Bienestar Rural) (Institute for Rural Welfare) on January 18, 1993 (case file of appendixes to the
complaint, appendix 10, folios 725 to 729); anthropological report on the “Sawhoyamaxa” Community of
the Enxet People. Centro de Estudios Antropoldgicos of the Universidad Catdlica “Nuestra Sefiora de la
Asuncién”, supra note 18; census on the Sawhoyamaxa Indigenous Community conducted by the alleged
victims "representatives in 1997 (case file of appendixes to the complaint, appendix 4, folios 500 to 510);
official report to the President of the Chamber of Deputies of the Congress, to the Comisiéon de Derechos
Humanos y Asuntos Indigenas [Committee on Human Rights and Indigenous Affairs] and to the Comisién
de Ecologia [Commission on Ecology] regarding the situation of indigenous peoples and forest cutting in
Chaco,” delivered on April 8, 1994, (case file of appendixes to the complaint, appendix 16, folios 1030 to
1039); request for recognition of the leaders of the members of the Maroma, Loma Pora, Ledesma,
Naranjito, Diana, Santa Elisa Garay, Santo Domingo and Kildmetro 16 villages filed before the INDI
(Instituto Nacional del Indigena) (Paraguayan Institute on Indigenous Affairs) on August 6, 1991 (case file
of appendixes to the answer to the complaint, appendix 1, folio 1300), and brief filed by the leaders of the
Maroma, Loma Pord, Ledesma, Naranjito, Diana, Santa Elisa Garay, Santo Domingo and Kildmetro 16
villlages before the IBR (Instituto de Bienestar Rural) (Institute of Rural Welfare) on August 6, 1991 (case
file of appendixes to the answer to the complaint, appendix 1, folio 1301).
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73(7) At present most members of the Sawhoyamaxa Indigenous Community?’ live
in the settlements known as “Santa Elisa” and "KM 16.” “Santa Elisa” was created
after the proceedings for claiming the lands had been commenced (infra para.
73(18)), once most members of the Sawhoyamaxa Community had decided to leave
the cattle estates where they lived and settle across the wire fences of the property
claimed, alongside the road which runs from Pozo Colorado to Concepcion,
"Presidente Hayes” Department.?® The settlement known as “KM 16”, also located
alongside the road that runs from Pozo Colorado to Concepcién, "Presidente Hayes”
Department, had allegedly been created before the moment the proceedings for
claiming the lands were started®®. A minority group of members of the Community
still live within the lands demarcated by several cattle estates in the nearby areas,
such as Ledesma, Maroma, Diana, San Felipe, Loma Pord, Naranjito, Yakukai, Misién
Inglesa, Santa Ana and San José.>*°

73(8) According to the census conducted in 2006, the Sawhoyamaxa Community
has 407 members, grouped in approximately eighty-three dwelling places.3!

73(9) The lands claimed by the Sawhoyamaxa Indigenous Community (infra para.
73(18)) are within the lands which they have traditionally occupied and which are
part of their traditional habitat.>?

27 Cf. statement rendered by Mr. Carlos Marecos before a public official whose acts command full

faith and credit on January 17, 2006 (case file on the merits, reparations, and costs, Volume III, folios
741 to 746); book titled “Il Censo Nacional Indigena de Poblacion y Vivienda 2002. Pueblos Indigenas del
Paraguay. Resultados Finales” (II 2002 National Indigenous Population and Housing Census. Indigenous
Peoples of Paraguay. Final Results), Direccion General de Estadistica, Encuestas y Censos (Bureau of
Statistics, Surveys, and Censuses) of the Secretaria Técnica de Planificaciéon de la Presidencia de la
Republica (Office of the Technical Secretary of State for Planning to the President of the Republic),
Paraguay, 2002, pages 21, 22 and 23, and book titled “Atlas de las Comunidades Indigenas in el
Paraguay” [Atlas of the Indigenous Communities in Paraguay],” Direccion General de Estadistica,
Encuestas y Censos [Bureau of Statistics, Surveys and Censuses] of the Secretaria Técnica de Planificacion
de la Presidencia de la Republica (Office of the Technical Secretary of State for Planning to the President of
the Republic), Paraguay, 2002. Volume II, pages 400 and 401.

28 Cf. statement rendered by Mr. Carlos Marecos before a public official whose acts command full
faith and credit on January 17, 2006, supra note 27, and statement rendered by Ms. Gladys Benitez-
Galarza before a public official whose acts command full faith and credit on January 17, 2006 (case file on
the merits, reparations, and costs, Volume III, folios 722 to 726).

29 Cf. brief filed by the leaders of Maroma, Loma Pora, Ledesma, Naranjito, Diana, Santa Elisa
Garay, Santo Domingo and Kilémetro 16 villages before the Instituto de Bienestar Rural (IBR) (Institute of
Rural Welfare) on August 6, 1991, supra note 26, and brief filed by the attorneys of the Sawhoyamaxa
Community before the Institute of Rural Welfare on May 12, 1994 (case file of appendixes to the
complaint, appendix 10, folio 818).

30 Cf. statement rendered by Mr. Carlos Marecos before a public official whose acts command full
faith and credit on January 17, 2006, supra note 27; census on the Sawhoyamaxa Indigenous Community
conducted by the representatives of the alleged victims in 2004 (case file of appendixes to the complaint,
appendix 4, folios 631 to 647), and census on the Sawhoyamaxa Indigenous Community conducted by the
representatives of the alleged victims in February, 2006 (case file on the merits, reparations, and costs,
Volume 1V, folios 1181 to 1198).

3 Cf. census on the Sawhoyamaxa Indigenous Community conducted by the alleged victims’
representatives in February 2006, supra note 30.

32 Cf. statement rendered by Mr. Andrew Paul Leake translated into Spanish by Mr. Tito Ulises
Lahaye-Diaz before a public official whose acts command full faith and credit on January 25, 2006, supra
note 20; note P.C. No. 966/98 issued by the INDI and addressed to the Instituto de Bienestar Rural
(Institute of Rural Welfare) on November 27, 1998 (case file of appendixes to the answer to the
complaint, appendix 1, folios 1578); report No. 2065 issued by the Legal Counseling Department of the
Institute of Rural Welfare on December 3, 1998 (case file of appendixes to the answer to the complaint,
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73(10) The lands claimed are suitable for the Indigenous Community members to
continue with their current subsistence activities and to ensure their short and mid-
term survival, as well as the beginning of a long-term process of development of
alternative activities which will allow their subsistence to become sustainable®?

b) Process of recognition of the Sawhoyamaxa Indigenous Community
leaders and of its legal entity

73(11) On August 6, 1991 the "members of the indigenous communities of Maroma,
Loma Pora, Ledesma, Naranjito, Diana, Santa Elisa Gray, Santo Domingo and
Kilbmetro 16 belonging to the Enxet (Lengua) Ethnic Group [,] settled in [... t]he
District of Pozo Colorado, "Presidente Hayes” Department,” requested the Instituto
Paraguayo del Indigena (INDI) (Paraguayan Institute of Indigenous Affairs) that their
leaders Carlos Marecos-Aponte and Teresio Gonzalez be recognized as such pursuant
to Article 12 of Law No. 904/81, which sets forth the Status of Indigenous
Communities (hereinafter “Law No0.904/81").3*

73(12) On February 16, 1993 the INDI Field Promoter recommended the Legal
Counseling Department of such Institute that the petition of the Indigenous
Community (supra para. 73(11)) be admitted.®® This position was reaffirmed by said
official on April 13, 1993.3¢ Later on, after having verified that the Sawhoyamaxa
Indigenous Community was scattered over several places, that it was not registered
with the Registro Nacional de Comunidades Indigenas (Indigenous Communities
National Registry) and that the leaders proposed by the Community (supra para.
73(11)) had not been previously registered before said Registry,?” and after having
requested that a social and anthropological report on the Community be drawn,*® on
April 27, 1993 the President of the Council of INDI decided “[t]o recognize Mr. Carlos
Marecos-Aponte and Mr. Teresio Gonzadlez as leaders of the ‘Sa[w]hoyamaxa’

appendix 1, folio 1580), and anthropological report on the “Sawhoyamaxa” Community of the Enxet
People. Centro de Estudios Antropolégicos de la Universidad Catoélica “Nuestra Sefiora de la Asunciéon”
(Catholic University “Our Lady of Asuncion” Anthropological Studies Center), supra note 18.

33 Cf. statement rendered by Mr. Andrew Paul Leake and translated into Spanish by Mr. Tito Ulises
Lahaye-Diaz before a public official whose acts command full faith and credit on January 25, 2006, supra
note 20, and anthropological report on the “Sawhoyamaxa” Community of the Enxet People. Centro de
Estudios Antropoldgicos de la Universidad Catoélica “Nuestra Sefiora de la Asuncién” [Catholic University
“Our Lady of Asuncion” Anthropological Studies Center], supra note 18.

34 Cf. request for recognition of the leaders of Maroma, Loma Pora, Ledesma, Naranjito, Diana,
Santa Elisa Garay, Santo Domingo and Kildmetro 16 indigenous villages filed before the INDI on August 6,
1991, supra note 26.

35 Cf. note of the INDI Rural Promoter addressed to the Legal Department of such institute on
February 16, 1993 (case file of appendixes to the answer to the complaint, appendix 1, folio 1228).

36 Cf. note of the INDI Rural Promoter addressed to the Legal Department of such institute on April
14, 1993 (case file of appendixes to the answer to the complaint, appendix 1, folio 1231).

37 Cf. certificate of the Direccidon Nacional de Comunidades Indigenas (National Office of Indigenous
Communities of the INDI of February 17, 1993 (case file of appendixes to the answer to the complaint,
appendix 1, folio 1229).

8 Cf. resolution issued by the Legal Department of the INDI on March 16, 1993 (case file of
appendixes to the answer to the complaint, appendix 1, folio 1230).
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Community of the Lengua ethnic group settled in the District of Pozo Colorado,
“[Presidente] Hayes” Department.”*°

73(13) Subsequently, on September 7, 1993 Mr. Carlos Marecos-Aponte and Mr.
Teresio Gonzalez started the relevant proceedings before the INDI to obtain the
recognition of the Community as a legal entity.*°

73(14) Notwithstanding, the proceeding continued until June 16, 1997, when the
Governing Board of the INDI issued Resolution No. 25/97, wherein it was decided
that “the request for Recognition of the Sawhol[...]Jyamaxa Indigenous [CJommunity
of the Enxet People, settle[d] in the District of Pozo Colorado, "Presidente Hayes”
Department as a Legal Ent[ity] be admitted” and that the case file be forwarded to
the Ministry of Education and Worship, “so that the relevant administrative
proceedings be started.”!

73(15) On October 6, 1997 the Legal Department of the Ministry of Education and
Worship in its report No. 1140 argued that “nothing prevents the Indigenous
[Clommunity [...] from obtaining recognition as a legal ent[ity] through the relevant
proceedings, taking into consideration that it meets all the requirements necessary
for such purpose.”? Therefore, on July 21, 1998 the President of Paraguay issued
Executive Order No. 22008, whereby the Sawhoyamaxa Indigenous Community was
recognized as a legal entity.*®

73(16) On May 11, 2003 Mr. Teresio Gonzalez, one of the Community leaders, died
in an alleged traffic accident .** Taking this fact into consideration, on February 15,
2005 the INDI issued another resolution, wherein it was decided that Mr. Carlos
Marecos, Dionicio Galeano, and Leonardo Gonzalez be recognized as leaders of the
Sawhoyamaxa Indigenous Community and that Resolution PC No. 50/93 of April 27,
1993 (supra para. 73(12))* be set aside.

c) Proceedings started by the Sawhoyamaxa Indigenous Community for claiming
their traditional lands and natural resources before the administrative bodies

3 Cf. resolution PC No. 50/93 issued by the INDI on April 27, 1993 (case file of appendixes to the
answer to the complaint, appendix 1, folio 1215).

40 Cf. request for recognition of legal personality filed by the Sawhoyamaxa Indigenous Community
with the INDI on September 7, 1993 (case file of appendixes to the answer to the complaint, appendix 1,
folio 1182).

4 Cf. resolution No. 25/97 issued by the Board of Directors of the INDI on June 16, 1997 (case file
of appendixes to the answer to the complaint, appendix 1, folio 1180).

42 Cf. report No. 1140 issued by the Legal Department of the Ministry of Education and Worship on
October 6, 1997 (case file of appendixes to the answer to the complaint, appendix 1, folio 1236).

43 Cf. Executive Order No. 22008 issued by the President of the Republic of Paraguay on July 21,
1998 (case file of appendixes to the complaint, appendix 3, folio 497).

a4 Cf. statement rendered by Mr. Carlos Marecos before a public official whose acts command full
faith and credit on January 17, 2006, supra note 27 and expert opinion given by Mr. Pablo Balmaceda-
Rodriguez before a public official whose acts command full faith and credit on January 17, 2006 (case file
on the merits, reparations, and costs, Volume III, folios 682 to 696).

45 Cf. resolution No. 180/005 issued by the President of INDI on February 15, 2005 (case file of
appendixes to the answer to the complaint, appendix 2, folio 1250).
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73(17) At the time when the facts in the instant case took place, the procedure for
dealing with land tenure problems in Paraguay was administrative in nature and was
in charge of the Instituto de Bienestar Rural [Institute of Rural Welfare] (hereinafter
the “IBR”).*® All territorial indigenous issues are filed with the INDI and with the IBR,
which always act within the administrative sphere.*’

73(18) On August 6, 1991, the same day when Mr. Carlos Marecos and Teresio
Gonzalez filed a request to be recognized as leaders of the Sawhoyamaxa
Community (supra para. 73(11)), they requested the IBR “for [their] immediate and
future needs,” that 8,000 hectares of land be given them “near Sa[w]hoyamaxa
(Retiro Santa Elisa in Loma Pora Estate), approximately 30 KM away from
Concepcion.” They made such petition on the grounds of “their right as members of
the original people from t[hat] area [to] be given back a part of what had once
belonged to [their] ancestors,” and of which they had been allegedly “deprived
[without] receiv[ing] any compensation.” Likewise, they argued that the lands
claimed were part of their “traditional hunting grounds”, which at that moment was a
“condemned piece of land”, meaning that it was not being used productively.*® Such
request started administrative proceeding No. 7597/91, entitled "“Indigenous
Community of Maroma-Pozo Colorado.”*®

73(19) On September 4, 1991 the Office for Indi